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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results 
of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial
statements and the related notes included in this Annual Report.
This discussion contains forward-looking statements. Also see the
section “Forward-Looking Statements” on page 33, and “Risk
Factors” in our Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks, and
assumptions associated with these statements.

O V E R V I E W
As a leading source of consumer and commercial credit informa-
tion, we collect, organize and manage various types of financial,
demographic, and marketing information. Our products and serv-
ices enable businesses to make credit and service decisions,
manage their portfolio risk, and develop marketing strategies con-
cerning consumers and commercial enterprises. We serve cus-
tomers across a wide range of industries, including the financial
services, mortgage, retail, telecommunications, utilities, automo-
tive, brokerage, healthcare and insurance industries, as well as
state and federal governments. We also enable consumers to
manage and protect their financial health through a portfolio of
products offered directly to individuals. We have approximately
5,000 employees worldwide, and manage our business globally
through the following three operating segments: Equifax North
America, Equifax Europe, and Equifax Latin America. Our opera-
tions are predominantly located within the United States, with
foreign operations principally located in Canada, the United
Kingdom, and Brazil.

Our products and services are categorized as follows: Information
Services, Marketing Services, and Consumer Direct. Our Information
Services products and services allow customers to make credit
decisions about consumers and commercial enterprises. Our
Marketing Services information products and databases enable
customers to identify a target audience for marketing purposes,
and our Consumer Direct products and services provide informa-
tion to consumers that enable them to reduce their exposure to
identity fraud and to monitor their credit health.

We develop, maintain, and enhance secured proprietary information
databases through compilation of accounts receivable information
about consumers and businesses that we obtain from a variety 
of sources, such as credit granting institutions, public record
information, including bankruptcies, liens, and judgments, and mar-
keting information from surveys and warranty cards. We process
this information utilizing our information management systems and
make it available to our customers in a user-friendly format.

S U M M A R Y  O F  S E L E C T E D  
R E C E N T  E V E N T S
Acquisitions. In November 2002, we acquired consumer credit
files, contractual rights to territories, and customer relationships
and related businesses from CBC Companies, Inc., or CBC, an 
independent credit reporting agency, for $95.0 million in cash. 
The purchased CBC database includes customers from Ohio,
Florida, West Virginia, South Dakota, North Dakota and Indiana.

In August 2002, we acquired Naviant, Inc. for $135.0 million in
cash. Naviant is a direct marketing company with a database of
permission-based email addresses. Naviant’s products and serv-
ices enable marketers to identify, target, and build consumer rela-
tionships through email marketing.

$250.0 Million Note Offering. In October 2002, we completed 
the sale of $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 
4.95% senior unsecured notes, which mature November 1, 2007.
The proceeds were used to pay down our revolving credit facility
and for general corporate purposes, including the November 2002
acquisition of assets from CBC. In turn, we will borrow $200.0 mil-
lion under our revolving credit facility to retire our $200.0 million
aggregate principal amount of outstanding 6.5% senior unsecured
notes, which mature June 2003. See Note 6 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Discontinued Operations – 2002 Spain Commercial and 2001 
Spin-off of Certegy. In the third quarter of 2002, we initiated a plan
to exit our commercial reporting business in Spain, which is now
held for sale. Our decision to exit the business was driven by unfa-
vorable growth prospects in this market and unsatisfactory finan-
cial performance. Discontinued after tax losses totaled $13.3 million
in 2002 including a $9.0 million ($0.07 per share) estimated loss on
disposal. The results for this business in 2001 and 2000 were not
material, as revenues were less than 1% of our total sales, and
thus have not been reclassified to Discontinued Operations.

On July 7, 2001, we completed the spin-off of our Payment
Services segment. The spin-off was accomplished by the consoli-
dation of the business units that comprised our Payment Services
segment into a separate, wholly-owned subsidiary, Certegy Inc.,
and the subsequent distribution of all of the common stock of
Certegy to our shareholders. As a result of the spin-off, our his-
torical financial statements have been restated with Certegy’s 
net assets, results of operations and cash flows classified as
“Discontinued Operations.” See Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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Divested Operations in 2001 and 2000. In October 2001, we sold
our City Directory business and, in the fourth quarter of 2000, we
sold our risk management collections businesses in the United
States, Canada, and the United Kingdom, our vehicle information
businesses in the United Kingdom, and a direct marketing business
in Canada. Combined revenues for these businesses in 2001 and
2000 were $29.2 million and $162.0 million, respectively, with a
2001 operating loss of $3.6 million and 2000 operating income of
$9.0 million.

The operating results of these businesses are classified in
Divested Operations for segment reporting purposes and are
included in our income from continuing operations. See Note 4 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Restructuring and Impairment Charges in 2001. In the fourth 
quarter of 2001, we recorded restructuring and impairment charges
of $60.4 million ($35.3 million after tax or $0.25 per diluted share).
The restructuring charges, which total $37.2 million, are associated
with the reconfiguration of our business after the spin-off of Certegy
and the realignment of our cost structure in our international oper-
ations, and consist of severance costs and reserves to reflect our
estimated exposure on facilities to be vacated or consolidated. 
The asset impairment charges, which total $23.2 million, reflect 
our write-down of several technology investments. See Note 5 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

C O M P O N E N T S  O F  I N C O M E  S T A T E M E N T
Revenues from our three operating segments, Equifax North
America, Equifax Europe and Equifax Latin America, are generated
from a variety of products and services categorized into three
groups: Information Services, Marketing Services, and Consumer
Direct. In 2002, our Equifax North America segment generated
81% of our worldwide revenues and 91% of our operating profit
before corporate expense.

Information Services revenues are principally transaction related,
and are derived from our sales of the following products, many of
which are delivered electronically: credit reporting and scoring,
mortgage reporting, identity verification, fraud detection, decision-
ing and modeling services and credit marketing services. Revenues
from our Marketing Services are derived from our sales of products
that help customers acquire new customers. Consumer Direct
revenues are transaction related, and are derived from our sales of
credit reporting products and identity theft monitoring services,
which we deliver to consumers electronically via the Internet and
via mail. Our revenues are sensitive to a variety of factors, such as

demand for, and price of, our services, technological competitive-
ness, our reputation for providing timely and reliable service, com-
petition within our industry, federal, state, foreign and regulatory
requirements governing privacy and use of data, and general eco-
nomic conditions. See “Forward-Looking Statements,” below.

Our operating expenses include costs of services and selling, gen-
eral, and administrative expense. Costs of services consist primar-
ily of data acquisition and royalties; customer service costs, which
include: personnel costs to collect, maintain and update our pro-
prietary databases, to develop and maintain software application
platforms, and to provide consumer and customer call center sup-
port; hardware and software expense associated with transaction
processing systems; telecommunication and computer network
expense; and occupancy costs associated with facilities where
these functions are performed. Selling, general, and administra-
tive, or SG&A expenses consist primarily of personnel costs for
compensation paid to sales and administrative employees and
management. Depreciation and amortization expense includes
amortization of acquired intangible assets.

A D O P T I O N  O F  S F A S  1 4 2
Beginning January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” or SFAS 142. SFAS 142 modifies the accounting for busi-
ness combinations, goodwill, and identifiable intangible assets. As
of January 1, 2002 all goodwill amortization ceased. SFAS 142
requires an initial impairment test of goodwill and certain other
intangibles to be completed in the year of adoption and annually
thereafter. In 2002, we completed our goodwill impairment testing
required by SFAS 142, which resulted in no adjustment to the car-
rying amount of goodwill. Although the adoption of the impairment
provisions of SFAS No. 142 did not have a material impact on our
financial position, we cannot assure you that additional impairment
tests will not require an impairment charge during future periods
should circumstances indicate that our goodwill balances are
impaired. Income from continuing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000 included after tax goodwill amortiza-
tion of $18.5 million ($0.13 per diluted share), and $19.6 million
($0.14 per diluted share), respectively.
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S
Our consolidated results for each of the three years in the periods ended December 31, were as follows:

(In millions, except per share data) 2002 2001 2000

GAAP Non-GAAP GAAP Non-GAAP

Revenue $1,109.3 $1,139.0 $1,109.8 $1,189.2 $1,027.2
Operating Income $ 351.3 $ 253.8 $ 342.5 $ 308.6 $ 320.3
Income from Continuing Operations $ 191.3 $ 117.3 $ 177.7 $ 141.1 $ 166.7
Net Income $ 178.0 $ 122.5 $ 177.7 $ 228.0 $ 166.7
Diluted EPS:

Income from Continuing Operations $ 1.38 $ 0.84 $ 1.28 $ 1.04 $ 1.23
Net Income $ 1.29 $ 0.88 $ 1.28 $ 1.68 $ 1.23

All references to earnings per share data in this MD&A are to diluted earnings per share unless otherwise noted.
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G A A P  A N D  N O N - G A A P  
F I N A N C I A L  M E A S U R E S
The results presented in the above table are based on our con-
solidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States, or GAAP. Throughout this Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, or
MD&A, we discuss financial measures in accordance with GAAP
and also on a non-GAAP basis. When we refer to a financial
measure as “reported,” we are referring to a GAAP financial meas-
ure. When we refer to a financial measure as “adjusted,” 
we are referring to a non-GAAP financial measure.

The following events are reflected in our adjusted results and
impacted years 2001 and 2000 only: our restructuring charge taken
in the fourth quarter of 2001, our divested operations in 2001 and
2000, and the adoption of SFAS 142. We believe that our use of
certain adjusted, non-GAAP financial measures allows our man-
agement and investors to evaluate and compare our core operating
results from ongoing operations from period to period in a more
meaningful and consistent manner. Reconciliations of GAAP to
non-GAAP financial measures are included in this MD&A before
Critical Accounting Policies.

All “adjusted,” or non-GAAP, financial measures that we discuss 
in this MD&A exclude, and all “reported,” or GAAP, financial mea-
sures that we discuss in this MD&A include, the following items:

Y E A R  2 0 0 1  N O N - G A A P  I T E M S  R E F L E C T E D  

I N  “ A D J U S T E D ”

• An aggregate net pre-tax charge in 2001 of $94.6 million 
($60.4 million after tax; $0.44 loss per share), consisting of:
– $60.4 million restructuring and impairment charges 

($35.3 million after tax; $0.25 loss per share);
– a combined $8.8 million pre-tax loss ($3.0 million loss from

operations and $5.8 million loss on sale included in other
income and expense net) from the City Directory business 
that we sold in the fourth quarter ($6.6 million after tax; 
$0.06 loss per share) in the fourth quarter of 2001; and

– the $25.4 million elimination of goodwill amortization 
expense ($18.5 million after tax; $0.13 income per share) 
as if SFAS No. 142 had been effective on January 1, 2001.

Y E A R  2 0 0 0  N O N - G A A P  I T E M  R E F L E C T E D  

I N  “ A D J U S T E D ”

• Aggregate net pre-tax income in 2000 of $26.7 million ($25.6 
after tax income; $0.19 income per share), consisting of:
– a pre-tax loss of $3.6 million ($2.1 million after tax; 

$0.02 loss per share) from the operations of the City 
Directory that we no longer own;

– a combined $12.1 million of pre-tax income ($16.3 million in
operating income less a $4.2 million loss on sale included in
other income (expense net) from the risk management collec-
tions and vehicle information businesses ($8.0 million after
tax; $0.06 income per share) that we sold in the fourth quarter
of 2000;

– a $7.6 million pro forma reduction of interest expense 
($4.5 million after tax; $0.03 income per share) as if the sale 
of our risk management collections and vehicle information
businesses had occurred on January 1, 2000 thereby reducing
our debt carrying cost based on cash proceeds at closing of
approximately $149.2 million;
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– a $3.2 million pro forma increase in interest income 
($1.9 million after tax; $0.02 income per share) from our 
$41.0 million note receivable established as part of seller
financing with the divestiture of our risk management
collections business;

– lower income tax expense of $5.5 million ($0.04 income per
share) to adjust the income tax effective rate from 43.2% to
41.2% to reflect the effective rate for ongoing operations; and

– the $24.4 million elimination of goodwill amortization 
expense ($19.6 million after tax; $0.14 income per share) 
as if SFAS No. 142 had been effective on January 1, 2000.

H I G H L I G H T S  F O R  2 0 0 2  C O N S O L I D A T E D
F I N A N C I A L  R E S U L T S
• Our reported consolidated revenues of $1.1 billion 

decreased 3%. As adjusted, our consolidated revenues 
were even with 2001.

• Our reported income from continuing operations increased
63%. As adjusted, our income from continuing operations
increased 8%.

• Our operating margins improved to 32%.
• Our interest expense of $41.2 million declined 14%.
• Our reported operating income increased 38%. As adjusted, 

our operating income grew 3%.
• Our reported earnings per share from continuing operations

increased 64%. As adjusted, our earnings per share from
continuing operations increased 8%.

• Our total debt outstanding at December 31, 2002 was 
$924.5 million.

• Our cash provided by operations was $248.8 million and our free
cash flow, which is a non-GAAP measure of the amount of cash
provided by our operating activities less capital expenditures,
was $193.0 million.

• We repurchased 2.9 million shares of common stock for a total
investment of $72.5 million.

Y E A R  2 0 0 2  C O M P A R E D  W I T H  2 0 0 1

Our reported revenues of $1.1 billion in 2002 decreased 3% 
from 2001. Our adjusted revenues were even with 2002. In 2002,
Equifax North America accounted for 81% of our total revenue 
and 91% of our operating income before corporate expense. Our
revenue growth in 2002 was negatively impacted by a global econ-
omy that has continued to weaken. Equifax North America rev-
enues grew 6% in 2002, delivering an additional $49.8 million in
revenue, compared to 13% growth in 2001. Our 2002 revenue
growth is attributable to increases in revenues from our Consumer
Direct products, sales of Mortgage Services resulting from
increased refinancing activity, and our acquisition of Naviant.

International revenues declined $45.1 million or 18% driven by
currency fluctuations, the decision to exit our commercial reporting
business in Spain, and the decline of the Argentinean economy.
The strengthening of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies,
particularly in Latin America, negatively impacted consolidated
revenue by $16.7 million or 2%.

Consolidated operating expenses in 2002 of $758.0 million
declined $127.2 million or 14% over 2001. Operating expense, as
adjusted, decreased 1%, or $9.3 million. Excluding incremental
operating expense from our Naviant acquisition, operating
expenses declined 5%, driven by our continued focus on productiv-
ity improvements, discretionary expense control and our restruc-
turing actions taken in 2001 after the Certegy spin-off. In the fourth
quarter of 2001, we reduced our worldwide workforce 11% to
approximately 5,200 employees, and in 2002, continued to drive
productivity, resulting in an additional 5% decrease.

Cost of services in 2002 of $427.6 million declined $23.4 million or
5%. The divestiture of our City Directory business in October 2001
accounted for $9.3 million of the reduction. As adjusted, cost of
services declined 3%, driven by our decision to exit our commercial
credit reporting business in Spain, lower personnel expense and pro-
fessional service fees partially offset with higher royalties and data
purchases expense on higher unit volumes in Equifax North America.

SG&A, expenses of $249.9 million declined nearly 7% over 2001,
driven by the divestiture of City Directory. As adjusted, SG&A
expense increased $4.5 million, or 2%, due to our Naviant acquisi-
tion. Our SG&A expense in 2002 was also negatively impacted by
an increase of $4.3 million in bad debt expense, with the WorldCom
bankruptcy representing the largest portion of such expense.

Operating income in 2002 increased 38%, to $351.3 million, with
operating margins of 32%. Operating income, as adjusted, grew
3%, driven by our focus on productivity and expense control.
Equifax North America’s ability to maintain strong operating mar-
gins while investing in key growth initiatives and Equifax Europe’s
improvement in margins from 4% to 10% in 2002, offset margin
erosion in our Marketing Services operations in the U.S., profit
deterioration in Equifax Latin America due to economic conditions
in Argentina, and the reduction in income from our former lottery
business. See “Segment Results – Other,” below.
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Y E A R  2 0 0 1  C O M P A R E D  W I T H  2 0 0 0

Our reported revenues of $1.1 billion in 2001 decreased 4%, or
$50.2 million, driven by our divestiture of several businesses. 
See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In the fourth
quarter of 2000, we sold the risk management collections business
that we conducted in the United States, Canada and the United
Kingdom, the vehicle information business that we conducted in
the United Kingdom, and a direct marketing business that we con-
ducted in Canada. On a combined basis these divested businesses
including City Directory, which was sold in 2001, generated rev-
enues of $162.0 million and operating profit of $9.0 million with
margins of 6%. Revenues, as adjusted, increased 8% over 2000
driven by Equifax North America’s record 13% growth on strong
credit reporting volumes and Consumer Direct revenue growth.
The strengthening of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies,
particularly in Latin America, negatively impacted consolidated
revenue by $26.9 million, or 3%.

Consolidated operating expenses in 2001 of $885.2 million, includ-
ing a $60.4 million restructuring charge taken in the fourth quarter,
increased $4.6 million over 2000. Operating expenses in 2001, as
adjusted, were $767.3 compared to adjusted operating expenses
of $706.9 in 2000. The $60.4 million increase was driven by record
volumes in our North American operations and $22.8 million of
incremental operating expense added from our acquisition of the
Consumer Information Solutions Group from R.L. Polk & Co. in 
May 2000, and the November 2000 acquisition of two related
Italian businesses named SEK S.r.l. and AIF Gruppo Securitas S.r.l.
The products and services of the Consumer Information Solutions
Group that we acquired from R.L. Polk & Co., which we had referred
to as our Consumer Information Services, are now categorized
within our Marketing Services product line, and reported in our
Equifax North America segment.

Cost of services in 2001 of $451.0 million declined $62.2 million or
12%, driven by the sale of our risk management collections busi-
ness in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom, our
vehicle information business in the United Kingdom, and a direct
marketing business in Canada, which are classified as Divested
Operations. Partially offsetting this decline is a $43.3 million
increase in production and data processing expenses due to record
volumes in our Equifax North America operations. SG&A expenses
of $267.6 million increased 2% over 2000, driven by higher sales
incentive payouts on record sales, incremental expense from our
acquisition of the Consumer Information Solutions Group from 
R.L. Polk & Co., and growth in our Consumer Direct product line.

Operating income in 2001 of $253.8 million decreased 18% over
2000 driven by our $60.4 million restructuring charge taken in the
fourth quarter of 2001. Operating income, as adjusted, increased
7% over 2000 driven by strong revenue growth in Equifax North
America more than offsetting margin deterioration in our interna-
tional operations.

O T H E R  I N C O M E  ( E X P E N S E ) ,  N E T
Other income (expense), net principally consists of interest income,
gains and losses from divested businesses, and gains and losses
on foreign currency. Interest income in 2002, 2001, and 2000
totaled $6.3 million, $8.3 million, and $7.9 million, respectively.
Included in Other income (expense), net is the sale of our City
Directory business in October 2001 and our risk management col-
lections business and vehicle information business in 2000, which
generated pre-tax losses of $5.8 million and $4.2 million, in 2001
and 2000, respectively.

I N T E R E S T  E X P E N S E
Interest expense decreased $6.6 million and $8.0 million in 2002
and 2001, respectively. This reduction was driven by lower average
debt outstanding and lower interest rates. Our total debt outstand-
ing at December 31, 2002 was $924.5 million compared to $755.6
million at December 31, 2001. We expect interest expense to
increase in 2003 due to higher outstanding debt levels.

E F F E C T I V E  T A X  R A T E S
Our effective tax rates from continuing operations were 39.3%,
42.1%, and 43.4% in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Our lower
effective rate in 2002 was driven by: the elimination of goodwill
amortization beginning January 1, 2002, as required by SFAS 142;
the tax basis of goodwill related to the loss on sale of City
Directory in the third quarter of 2001; and the implementation of
state tax planning strategies. Effective tax rate changes from 2000
to 2001 were mainly due to non-deductible goodwill associated
with divestitures and changes in levels of foreign earnings.

23

Financial.wpc  4/14/03  7:54 AM  Page 23



S E G M E N T  R E S U L T S
Our segment results for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, are as follows:

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Revenues:

Equifax North America $ 902.2 $ 852.4 $ 755.2
Equifax Europe 126.1 141.1 142.9
Equifax Latin America 76.6 106.7 119.5
Other 4.4 9.6 9.6
Revenue before divested operations, Non-GAAP 1,109.3 1,109.8 1,027.2
Divested Operations – 29.2 162.0
Revenues, GAAP $1,109.3 $1,139.0 $1,189.2

Operating income:
Equifax North America $ 361.6 $ 340.6 $ 295.9
Equifax Europe 12.7 5.8 17.2
Equifax Latin America 20.3 32.0 40.0
Other 4.4 8.9 8.9
General Corporate Expense (47.7) (44.8) (41.7)
Operating income, Non-GAAP 351.3 342.5 320.3
Divested Operations – (2.9) 12.7
Goodwill Amortization – (25.4) (24.4)
Restructuring and Other Charges – (60.4) –
Operating income, GAAP $ 351.3 $ 253.8 $ 308.6

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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E Q U I F A X  N O R T H  A M E R I C A
In 2002, Equifax North America generated 81% of our revenue and
91% of our operating profit before corporate expense. This segment’s
revenue increased 6% in 2002. The Naviant acquisition, included in
Marketing Services, positively impacted revenue growth 3.5% for the
year. We experienced positive momentum in the second half of the
year as revenues grew 6% compared to a 1% decline in the first half,
excluding revenues from the Naviant acquisition.

As shown in the following table, our Equifax North America
segment includes revenues from our:
• U.S. Consumer and Commercial Services, which are comprised

of the Consumer and Commercial Services that we provide in
the U.S., which we previously referred to as U.S. Credit
Information Services.

• Mortgage Services that we provide in the U.S., which we
previously referred to as U.S. Credit Information Services.

• Canadian Operations, which are comprised of the Consumer
Services, Commercial Services and Credit Marketing Services
that we provide in Canada;

• Credit Marketing Services that we provide in the U.S.;
• Direct Marketing Services, are comprised of the direct and email

marketing services that we provide in the U.S. and include the
products and services that we formerly referred to as our 

Consumer Information Services, and now include Naviant’s
products and services; and
• Consumer Direct products and services.

Revenue
(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
U.S. Consumer and Commercial 

Services $455.4 $449.2 $393.8
Mortgage Services 55.2 44.4 25.7
Canadian Operations 77.4 77.5 68.1

North America Information Services 588.0 571.1 487.6
Credit Marketing Services 164.3 166.5 177.9
Direct Marketing Services 110.5 92.9 81.9

Total Marketing Services 274.8 259.4 259.8
Consumer Direct 39.4 21.9 7.8

$902.2 $852.4 $755.2

Y E A R  2 0 0 2  C O M P A R E D  W I T H  2 0 0 1

U.S. Consumer and Commercial Services 2002 revenue growth
was 1% over 2001. Revenue growth in 2002 was challenging due
to tough economic conditions in the U.S. and a record 2001 base
year. Revenues in the second half of 2002 grew 5.5% compared to
a 3% decline in the first half of the year. The momentum was
driven by mortgage refinancing and market share gains, principally
in financial services. Average prices were flat year over year, 
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influenced by higher mortgage activity. Mortgage Services deliv-
ered record revenues with 24% growth. With continued economic
weakness, we expect to see low to mid single digit revenue
growth percentages in 2003. Mortgage loan originations, a sig-
nificant contributor to our credit reporting volume growth in 2002
and 2001, are expected to slow during 2003.

Our Marketing Services product lines delivered $274.8 million in
revenues or 6% growth in 2002, driven by incremental revenues
from our Naviant acquisition. Revenues from our Credit Marketing
Services, which include pre-screening, portfolio review, database
and other marketing products, were down 1% for the year prin-
cipally due to the economic conditions. Revenues from Direct
Marketing Services were $110.5 million, or 19% above the prior
year, driven by incremental revenues from our Naviant acquisition.
Our Direct Marketing Services revenues continued to be negatively
impacted by the slow down in spending for advertising, mailings,
and promotions.

Consumer Direct services revenues grew 80% over the prior year.
All products continued strong growth including $6.6 million of
incremental sales from the launch of our Equifax 3-in-1 credit
report. We continue to expect strong revenue growth in 2003.

Equifax North America delivered record profit of $361.6 million
with 6% growth over adjusted operating income on solid revenue
growth and strong expense management. We maintained operat-
ing margins of 40% as we continue to invest in growth initiatives
such as our U.S. Small Business Credit Report and our Fraud, Safety
and Security Services.

Y E A R  2 0 0 1  C O M P A R E D  W I T H  2 0 0 0

U.S. Consumer and Commercial Services delivered revenue growth
of 14% in 2001 on a record credit reporting volume increase of
20%. The key industry growth drivers were mortgage, telecommu-
nications, financial services, and automotive. Lower interest rates
helped generate record volumes in mortgage refinancing, cellular
usage increased, and automakers’ zero rate financing incentives,
which combined to drive consolidated volumes with consecutive
quarterly growth in 2001. Volume growth was partially offset by
average unit price declines of 6% in 2001. Mortgage Services
revenues grew 73% in 2001 caused by a favorable interest rate
environment, compared with a 21% decrease in 2000. Canadian
operations revenues increased 14% in 2001 on strong consumer
credit volume growth.

Our Marketing Services product lines generated combined rev-
enues of $259.4 million, or almost even with $259.8 million in
2000. Revenues from our Credit Marketing Services declined 6% 
in 2001 versus 2000. Lower revenues in 2001 were principally due
to product mix shifts to lower priced risk management products,

and price compression due to customer consolidation. Our 2001
revenues from Direct Marketing Services were $92.9 million, 
a 13% increase over 2000. Excluding incremental revenues as a
result of the May 2000 acquisition from R.L. Polk & Co., revenues
declined 11%, principally driven by a significant slow down in
advertising and marketing expenditures by our customers due to
the slowing U.S. economy.

Consumer Direct revenues in 2001 more than doubled to $21.9 mil-
lion largely due to $9.7 million of incremental sales from the new
ScorePower® credit score product launched in March 2001 and
increased sales of the Equifax Credit ReportTM credit report and
Equifax Credit WatchTM credit monitoring service. Consumer Direct
sales in 2000 totaled $7.8 million.

Operating income for Equifax North America increased 15% in
2001 on record revenue and volume growth. Excluding the impact
of our May 2000 acquisition from R.L. Polk, operating income
growth for 2001 was 16%.

E Q U I F A X  E U R O P E
Y E A R  2 0 0 2  C O M P A R E D  W I T H  2 0 0 1

Equifax Europe, which includes the results of our operations in the
United Kingdom, Spain, Portugal and Italy, and our support opera-
tions in Ireland, continued to improve its profit and operating mar-
gins through expense reductions and operating efficiencies, and
the decision to exit the commercial credit reporting business in
Spain. Revenues declined 14% on a local currency basis driven by
our decision to exit the commercial credit reporting business in
Spain, and lower revenues from our United Kingdom operations.
Our United Kingdom operations generated 77% of Equifax Europe’s
revenues in 2002. U.S. dollar revenue benefited $5.4 million from
the strengthening of local currencies, British pound and the euro.

Operating expenses in 2002 of $113.4 million declined 16%.
United Kingdom expenses decreased 11% driven by our fourth
quarter 2001 restructuring plan focused on rightsizing our United
Kingdom operations and driving productivity. During the third quar-
ter of 2002, we made the decision to exit the commercial credit
reporting business in Spain due to local market conditions, and this
business is now held for sale. See Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. For 2002, the results of the Spanish com-
mercial business have been classified as discontinued operations.
2001 results were not material to our consolidated results and as
such have not been reclassified to discontinued operations.

Operating income of $12.7 million more than doubled over 2001
driven by United Kingdom expense reductions. We continue to
focus on driving operational efficiencies in our European
businesses and expect continued margin improvement in 2003.
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Y E A R  2 0 0 1  C O M P A R E D  W I T H  2 0 0 0

Equifax Europe achieved 2001 revenue growth of 3% in local cur-
rency. Our revenue growth was attributable to the November 2000
acquisition of two related Italian businesses named SEK S.r.l. and
AIF Gruppo Securitas S.r.l. The strengthening of the U.S. dollar
against the British pound and Spanish peseta reduced our revenue
in 2001 by approximately $6.0 million. Additionally, we experienced
revenue declines in our United Kingdom and Spain commercial
credit reporting services.

Operating income, as adjusted, in 2001 of $5.8 million declined
$11.4 million from 2000 on lower revenues in the United Kingdom
and Spain.

E Q U I F A X  L A T I N  A M E R I C A
Y E A R  2 0 0 2  C O M P A R E D  W I T H  2 0 0 1

Revenues of our Equifax Latin America segment, which includes
results of our operations in Brazil, Argentina, Chile, Peru, Uruguay
and El Salvador, declined by $30.1 million, or 28% from 2001,
driven by currency devaluation and the economic crisis in
Argentina. Currency devaluation negatively impacted our Latin
America revenues by $21.8 million, of which Brazil and Argentina
accounted for $18.3 million. Argentina’s operating revenue and
profit declined $21.8 million and $10.4 million, respectively. 
In local currency, Brazil’s revenues grew 8% in 2002 driven by per-
formance in commercial reporting services.

Operating income, as adjusted, declined 37% to $20.3 million
compared to 2001 principally due to Argentina’s economic decline.
Despite the economic challenges, Equifax Latin America delivered
solid operating margins of 26% in 2002 versus 30% in 2001.

Y E A R  2 0 0 1  C O M P A R E D  W I T H  2 0 0 0

Equifax Latin America generated revenue of $106.7 million and
operating margins of 30% in 2001. In local currency, revenues
increased three percent in 2001. The strengthening of the U.S.
dollar against the Brazilian real and the Chilean peso reduced this
segment’s revenue by approximately $17.5 million in 2001.

Operating income, as adjusted, in 2001 decreased $8.0 million
mainly due to weak currencies and economic conditions in the
region. Cost containment measures helped deliver strong margins
of 30% in 2001.

O T H E R
In our Other segment, we report information about our former lot-
tery business, which consists solely of an agreement between 
a subsidiary of ours and GTECH Corporation. Pursuant to this sub-
contract, GTECH assumed obligations of our subsidiary under 
a contract with the State of California to install a system to auto-
mate the processing of instant lottery tickets, provide terminals

and related security hardware, and license various software appli-
cations developed to support the system. We have exited the lot-
tery business, and all previously deferred revenue related to this
subcontract has now been recognized, and no further revenue or
operating income is expected to occur in this segment.

G E N E R A L  C O R P O R A T E
General corporate expense increased $2.9 million in 2002 based
on higher incentive compensation expense and one-time expenses
associated with the hiring of senior executive management. Our
2001 expense increase of $3.1 million was driven by higher incen-
tive compensation plan expense.

L I Q U I D I T Y  A N D  C A P I T A L  R E S O U R C E S
O V E R V I E W

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flow provided by our
operating activities, our revolving credit facilities, and cash and
cash equivalents.

We believe that our ability to generate cash from our operations is
one of our fundamental financial strengths. In 2002 we generated
cash flow from operations of $248.8 million. Our free cash flow, the
cash flow provided by our operating activities less capital expendi-
tures, was $193.0 million in 2002. Our capital expenditures are used
for developing, enhancing and deploying new and existing technol-
ogy platforms, replacing or adding equipment, updating systems for
regulatory compliance, the licensing of software applications and
investing in disaster recovery systems. We use free cash flow, along
with borrowings, to make acquisitions, to retire outstanding indebt-
edness, to pay dividends, and to make share repurchases.

C A S H  F R O M  O P E R A T I O N S

Our net cash provided by operating activities in 2002 was 
$248.8 million compared to $255.1 million in 2001. Increased cash
flows generated from lower trade receivable balances were offset
by payments associated with our fourth quarter restructuring plan
in 2001, ongoing data purchases, and a $20.0 million contribution
to our U.S. defined benefit pension plan. Our operating cash flow
continues to be driven by operating margin performance and
aggressive working capital management (days sales outstanding
declined from 63 days in 2001 to 55 days in 2002).

Cash provided by operations in 2001 amounted to $255.1 million,
an increase of 32% from 2000. The improvement over 2000 was
largely influenced by three factors: higher operating income,
aggressive working capital management of receivables, and a
$24.8 million reduction in capital expenditures.

I N V E S T I N G  A C T I V I T I E S

In 2002, net cash used in investing activities totaled $341.0 mil-
lion, an increase of $234.5 million compared to 2001. The increase

26

Financial.wpc  4/14/03  7:54 AM  Page 26



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

was primarily a result of our acquisition of Naviant and acqui-
sition of assets from CBC. Our acquisitions, net of cash acquired,
accounted for $321.2 million of total cash invested in 2002. Capital
expenditures exclusive of acquisitions totaled $55.8 million, which
principally represented development associated with key technol-
ogy platforms in our businesses. We expect to generate free cash
flow in excess of $200.0 million in 2003, with capital expenditures
expected to range from $45.0 to $55.0 million.

In the third quarter of 2002, our $41.0 million note receivable asso-
ciated with the sale of our risk management collections business
in 2000 was completely paid.

In 2001, net cash used in investing activities totaled $106.5 mil-
lion, a decrease of $156.5 million compared to 2000. The decrease
was primarily the result of the fact that we were less acquisitive in
2001, focusing on our spin-off of Certegy. Capital expenditures,
exclusive of acquisitions and investments, amounted to $47.1 mil-
lion in 2001 compared to $71.9 million in 2000. Acquisitions and
investments, net of cash acquired, declined from $346.8 million in
2000 to $68.7 million in 2001, largely due to our acquisition of the
Consumer Information Solutions Group from R.L. Polk & Co. in 
May 2000. These amounts were offset by cash proceeds generated
from the sale of businesses and other assets, which amounted to
$12.4 million in 2001 and $157.5 million in 2000, and are princi-
pally associated with the sale of our City Directory business in
2001 and the sale of our risk management collections and vehicle
information businesses in 2000.

F I N A N C I N G  A C T I V I T I E S

Net cash provided by financing activities during 2002 totaled 
$92.6 million, compared with net cash used in financing activities
during 2001 that totaled $325.5 million, and net cash provided by
financing activities during 2000 that totaled $16.4 million.

In 2002, we received $249.5 million in proceeds from the sale 
of $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 4.95% senior
unsecured notes, which mature November 1, 2007. During 2002 we
invested $79.8 million to repurchase 2.9 million shares of our common
stock, and received $34.2 million in proceeds from the exercise of
stock options. At December 31, 2001, our remaining authorization for
share repurchases was approximately $45.0 million, and in February
2002, our Board of Directors approved an additional $250.0 million for
share repurchases. We also continued our 90-year history of paying
dividends, which totaled $11.4 million in 2002.

In 2001, we reduced our long-term debt $298.9 million through the
repayment of borrowings under our $465.0 million revolving credit
facility. Debt repayments were funded through operating cash
flows and the cash dividend received from Certegy in conjunction

with the spin-off. During 2001, we invested $42.3 million to repur-
chase 2.2 million shares of our common stock, up from $6.5 million
invested to repurchase shares in 2000, and we received $36.4 mil-
lion in proceeds from the exercise of stock options. Share repur-
chases were temporarily suspended in 2000 to enable us to apply
available cash to the repayment of debt incurred in connection with
our acquisition of the Consumer Information Services Group from
R.L. Polk & Co. in May 2000. In 2001, our payment of dividends
totaled $32.3 million, a decrease of $20.0 million compared to 2000,
due to a reduction of our quarterly dividend after the Certegy 
spin-off from $0.093 to $0.02 per share.

We expect to increase the amount outstanding under our 
$465.0 million credit facility in 2003 for purposes of retiring the
$200.0 million aggregate principal amount of our outstanding
6.5% senior unsecured notes that mature in June 2003.

C A S H  A N D  C A S H  E Q U I V A L E N T S

Our cash and cash equivalents balance was $30.5 million and
$33.2 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

R E V O L V I N G  C R E D I T  F A C I L I T I E S

Our $465.0 million revolving credit facility, which we entered into
with Bank of America, N.A. and certain other lenders on October 4,
2001, provides for a variable interest rate tied to Base Rate, LIBOR
and competitive bid options. The weighted average interest rate of
borrowings outstanding under this facility was approximately
2.6% as of December 31, 2002. The credit facility consists of a
$160.0 million 364-day portion and a $305.0 million multi-year
portion which expire on October 2, 2003 and October 4, 2004,
respectively. The agreement governing this facility contains vari-
ous covenants and restrictions, including, among other things,
limitations on liens, subsidiary debt, mergers, liquidation, asset
dispositions, acquisitions, and maintenance of certain financial
covenants. Our borrowings under this facility, which have not been
guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries, are unsecured and will rank
on parity in right of payment with all of our other unsecured and
unsubordinated indebtedness from time to time outstanding. As of
December 31, 2002, we had $443.2 million of borrowing capacity
available under our $465.0 million revolving credit facility.

One of our Canadian subsidiaries has an unsecured, 364-day
C$100.0 million revolving credit facility that will expire in October
2003. The agreement provides for borrowings tied to Prime, Base
Rate, LIBOR and Canadian Bankers’ Acceptances, and contains
financial covenants related to interest coverage, funded debt to
cash flow, and limitations on subsidiary indebtedness. We have
guaranteed the indebtedness of our Canadian subsidiary under
this facility. As of December 31, 2002, U.S. $34.3 million of
borrowing capacity was available under this credit facility.
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The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2002:

Payments due by
Less than 1 to 3 4 to 5

(In millions) Total 1 Year Years Years Thereafter
Long-term debt (Note 6) $ 891.9 $201.3 $273.4 $249.8 $167.4
Operating leases (Note 10) 156.0 23.3 34.4 24.3 74.0
Data processing agreement

obligations (Note 10) 486.0 97.4 181.1 174.8 32.7
Outsourcing agreements (Note 10) 92.5 17.5 25.3 24.0 25.7

$1,626.4 $339.5 $514.2 $472.9 $299.8

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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We believe that future cash flows provided by our operating activi-
ties, together with current cash and cash equivalent balances, will
be sufficient to meet our projected cash requirements for the next
12 months, and the foreseeable future thereafter, although any
projections of future cash needs and cash flows are subject to
substantial uncertainty. For instance, Computer Sciences Corpora-
tion has an option, exercisable at any time prior to 2013, to sell its
credit reporting business to us. The option exercise price will be
determined by a third-party appraisal process and would be due in
cash within 180 days after the exercise of the option. We estimate
that if CSC were to exercise the option today, the option price
would be approximately $650.0 to $700.0 million. This estimate is
based solely on our internal analysis of the value of the business,
current market conditions, and other factors, all of which are sub-
ject to constant change. If CSC were to exercise its option, we
would have to obtain additional sources of funding. We believe
that this funding would be available from sources such as addi-
tional bank lines of credit and the issuance of public debt and/or
equity. However, the availability and terms of any such financing
would be subject to a number of factors, including credit market
conditions, the state of the equity markets, general economic con-
ditions, and our financial performance and condition. Because we
do not control the timing of CSC’s exercise of its option, we could
be required to seek such financing and increase our indebtedness
at a time when market or other conditions are unfavorable. See
“Forward-Looking Statements,” below.

We continually evaluate opportunities to sell additional equity 
or debt securities, obtain credit facilities from lenders, and
restructure our long-term debt for strategic reasons, or to further
strengthen our financial position. The sale of additional equity or
convertible debt securities could result in additional dilution to our
shareholders. In addition, we will, from time to time, consider the
acquisition of, or investment in, complementary businesses, prod-
ucts, services and technologies, and the repurchase and retire-
ment of debt, which might affect our liquidity requirements or

cause us to issue additional equity or debt securities. There can 
be no assurance that financing will be available in amounts or on
terms acceptable to us, if at all.

O F F - B A L A N C E  S H E E T  T R A N S A C T I O N S

Other than facility leasing arrangements, we do not engage in 
off-balance sheet financing activities. We have entered into a
synthetic lease on our Atlanta corporate headquarters building in
order to provide us with favorable financing terms with regard to
this facility. This $29.0 million lease was entered into in 1998 and
expires in 2010. Total lease payments for the remaining term total
$13.5 million. Under this synthetic lease arrangement, we have
also guaranteed the residual value of the leased property to a les-
sor. In the event that the property were to be sold by the lessor at
the end of the lease term, we would be responsible for any short-
fall of the sales proceeds, up to a maximum amount of $23.2 mil-
lion, which equals 80 percent of the value of the property at the
beginning of the lease term. We believe that the fair market value
of this property exceeds the amount of the guarantee.

L E T T E R S  O F  C R E D I T  A N D  G U A R A N T E E S

We will, from time to time, issue standby letters of credit, perform-
ance bonds or other guarantees in the normal course of our busi-
ness. The aggregate notional amount of all performance bonds and
standby letters of credit is less than $15.0 million and they all have
a maturity of one year or less. We provide these guarantees from
time to time to support the needs of our operating units. Except for
our guarantee of the synthetic lease referred to above, our only
outstanding guarantee that is not reflected as a liability on our
balance sheet was extended in connection with the sale of our risk
management collections business to RMA Holdings, LLC, or RMA,
in October 2000, at which time we guaranteed the operating lease
payments of a partnership affiliated with RMA to a lender of the part-
nership pursuant to a term loan. The term loan, which had $7.9 mil-
lion outstanding as of December 31, 2002, expires December 1,
2011. Our obligations under the RMA guarantee are not secured.
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We believe that the likelihood of demand for payment under these
instruments is minimal and expect no material losses to occur in
connection with these instruments.

S U B S I D I A R Y  F U N D S  T R A N S F E R  L I M I T A T I O N S

The ability of certain of our subsidiaries and associated companies
to transfer funds is limited in some cases by foreign government
regulations. At December 31, 2002, the amount of equity subject to
such restrictions for consolidated subsidiaries was not material.

P E N S I O N  B E N E F I T S

During 2002, actual asset returns for our U.S. defined benefit pen-
sion plan were adversely impacted by the performance of the U.S.
stock market, resulting in a decrease in the market value of our
retirement plan assets. The fair value of our defined benefit pen-
sion plan assets decreased from $413.1 million at December 31,
2001 to $344.8 million at December 31, 2002. In addition, we
lowered our discount rate from 7.25% to 6.75%, which increased
our U.S. projected benefit obligations from $419.0 million to
$451.2 million. The negative investment performance and declin-
ing discount rates during 2002 created an unfunded status in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 87 (“SFAS 87”) at December 31, 2002. As required under 
SFAS 87, a non-cash minimum pension liability of $179.4 million
($112.4 million after tax) reducing shareholders’ equity was
recorded at December 31, 2002. The impact of our plan’s funded
status would be reversed, and shareholder’s equity consequently
restored, on December 31 of any year in which the fair value of
plan assets exceeded the accumulated benefit obligation as of that
date. Further, this adjustment had no impact on our income state-
ment, and did not affect cash flow or our compliance with any
financial covenants contained in any of our debt agreements. 

We continually monitor and evaluate the level of pension contribu-
tions based on various factors that include, but are not limited to,
investment performance, actuarial valuation and tax deductibility.
While the asset return and interest rate environment have nega-
tively impacted the funded status of our U.S. defined benefit pen-
sion plan under SFAS 87, our minimum funding requirements, as
set forth in the Employment Retirement Income Security Act
(ERISA) and federal tax laws have been zero for the past five years.
In addition, we expect no mandatory funding requirements in 2003
or 2004. Although no minimum funding was required, at our dis-
cretion we contributed $20.0 million to our U.S. defined benefit
pension plan in 2002.

Our U.S. defined benefit pension plan delivered pension income of
$11.0 million in 2002, and approximately $8.6 million in 2001. The
annual pension income is calculated using a number of actuarial

assumptions, including the expected long-term rate of return on
assets and a discount rate. In determining the expected long-term
rate of return on assets, we evaluate input from our investment
consultants, investment management firms and actuaries. Addi-
tionally, we consider our historical 15-year compounded returns,
which have been in excess of our forward-looking return expecta-
tions. The expected long-term rate of return on this basis for 2002
was 9.5%. For determination of 2003 pension expense, the long-
term rate of return will be reduced to 8.75%. We believe that
8.75% is a reasonable long-term rate of return on assets, despite
the recent market downturn in which our plan assets had a return
loss of approximately 12.8% for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Our determination of pension income and expense is based on 
a market related valuation of assets, which reduces year-to-year
volatility. This market related valuation of assets recognizes
investment gains and losses over a five-year period from the year
in which they occur. Investment gains and losses for this purpose
are the difference between expected return calculated using the
market related value of assets and the actual return on the market
related value of assets. Since the market related value of assets
recognizes gains or losses over a five-year period, the future value
of assets will be affected as previously deferred gains or losses
are recognized. Our U.S. cumulative unrecognized actuarial losses
at December 31, 2002 were $202.0 million. These unrecognized
losses will result in a decrease in our future pension income
depending on several factors, including their relative size to our
projected benefit obligation and market related value of plan assets.

The discount rate we utilize for determining future pension obli-
gations is based on the yield associated with Moody’s Long-Term
Aa-rated Corporate Bond Index. The discount rate determined on
this basis has decreased from 7.25% at December 31, 2001 to
6.75% at December 31, 2002.

I N F L A T I O N
We do not believe that the rate of inflation has had a material
effect on our operating results. However, inflation could adversely
affect our future operating results if it were to result in a substan-
tial weakening in economic conditions.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In January 2002, we 
adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” The statement supersedes SFAS
No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,” but retains the funda-
mental provisions of that statement related to the recognition and
measurement of the impairment of long-lived assets to be held 
and used while expanding the measurement requirements of 
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long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale to include discontinued
operations. The Statement also supersedes Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 30 (APB 30), for the disposal of a segment of
business, extending the reporting of a discontinued operation to a
“component of an entity.” Further, the Statement requires operat-
ing losses from a “component of an entity” to be recognized in the
period(s) in which they occur rather than at the measurement date
as had been required under APB 30.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement 
No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” SFAS No. 145 amends SFAS
No. 13, “Accounting for Leases,” to eliminate inconsistency
between the required accounting for sale-leaseback transactions
and the required accounting for certain lease modifications that
have economic effects that are similar to sale-leaseback transac-
tions. SFAS No. 145 also rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains
and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt.” Accordingly, gains or
losses from extinguishment of debt shall not be reported as
extraordinary items unless the extinguishment qualifies as an
extraordinary item under the criteria APB Opinion No. 30,
“Reporting the Results of Operations – Reporting the Effects of
Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” SFAS 
No. 145 is effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002.
We adopted SFAS No. 145 on January 1, 2003.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” SFAS No. 146 provides
guidance related to accounting for costs associated with disposal
activities covered by SFAS No. 144 or with exit or restructuring
activities previously covered by Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”)
Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee
Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including
Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” SFAS No. 146 super-
sedes EITF Issue No. 94-3 in its entirety. SFAS No. 146 requires that
costs related to exiting an activity or to a restructuring not be recog-
nized until the liability is incurred. SFAS No. 146 will be applied
prospectively to exit or disposal activities that are initiated after
December 31, 2002. We adopted SFAS No. 146 on January 1, 2003.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45
(“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others.” FIN 45 currently requires that a liability be recorded in the
guarantor’s balance sheet upon issuance of a guarantee. In addi-
tion, as of December 31, 2002, FIN 45 requires disclosures about
the guarantees that an entity has issued, including a roll-forward
of the entity’s product warranty liabilities. We adopted the disclo-
sure requirements of FIN 45 effective December 31, 2002 and the

remaining provisions on January 1, 2003 and have included the
required disclosures in the Notes to the 2002 Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue 
No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.”
EITF Issue No. 00-21 provides guidance on how to account for
arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of multiple
products, services and/or rights to use assets. The provisions of
EITF Issue No. 00-21 will apply to revenue arrangements entered
into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003 and are not
expected to have a material impact on our financial position or
results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting 
for Stock-Based Compensation, Transition and Disclosure.” SFAS
No. 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary
change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends
the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock
Based Compensation” to currently require disclosure in the sum-
mary of significant accounting policies of the effects of an entity’s
accounting policy with respect to stock-based employee compensa-
tion on reported net income and earnings per share in annual and
interim financial statements. SFAS No. 148 does not amend SFAS
No. 123 to require companies to account for their employee stock-
based awards using the fair value method. However, the disclo-
sure provisions are required for all companies with stock-based
employee compensation, regardless of whether they utilize the 
fair value method of accounting described in SFAS No. 123 or the
intrinsic value method described in APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees.” We adopted SFAS No. 148 on
January 1, 2003 and have included the initial required disclosures
in the Notes to the 2002 Consolidated Financial Statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 
(“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” FIN 46 requires certain variable
interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of
the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the char-
acteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have suffi-
cient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support from other parties. 
FIN 46 is effective for all new variable interest entities created 
or acquired after January 31, 2003. For variable interest entities
created or acquired prior to February 1, 2003, the provisions of 
FIN 46 must be applied for the first interim or annual period begin-
ning after June 15, 2003. We are evaluating the impact of FIN 46
on our financial position and results of operations.
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R E C O N C I L I A T I O N S  O F  G A A P  T O  
N O N - G A A P  F I N A N C I A L  M E A S U R E S

2002 2001 2000
GAAP Revenue $1,109.3 $1,139.0 $1,189.2

City Directory – (29.2) (28.7)
Risk Management – – (110.6)
U.K. Vehicle Information – – (22.7)

Adjusted Revenue $1,109.3 $1,109.8 $1,027.2

GAAP Cost of Services $ 427.6 $ 451.0 $ 513.2
City Directory – (9.3) (9.4)
Risk Management – – (79.2)
U.K. Vehicle Information – – (22.5)

Adjusted Cost of Services $ 427.6 $ 441.7 $ 402.1

GAAP SG&A $ 249.9 $ 267.6 $ 261.2
City Directory – (22.2) (22.6)
Risk Management – – (9.7)
U.K. Vehicle Information – – –

Adjusted SG&A $ 249.9 $ 245.4 $ 228.9

GAAP Depreciation 
& Amortization $ 80.5 $ 80.8 $ 81.8
City Directory – (0.5) (0.4)
Risk Management – – (3.1)
U.K. Vehicle Information – – (2.5)

Adjusted Depreciation 
& Amortization $ 80.5 $ 80.3 $ 75.8

GAAP Goodwill Amortization $ – $ 25.4 $ 24.4
City Directory – – –
Risk Management – – –
U.K. Vehicle Information – – –

Adjusted Goodwill 
Amortization $ – $ 25.4 $ 24.4

GAAP Operating Income $ 351.3 $ 253.8 $ 308.6
Restructuring and other charges – 60.4 –
City Directory operating loss – 2.9 3.6
Risk Management operating 

income – – (18.6)
U.K. Vehicle Information 

operating loss – – 2.3
SFAS 142 Amortization – 25.4 24.4

Adjusted Operating Income $ 351.3 $ 342.5 $ 320.3

GAAP Income from 
continuing operations $191.3 $117.3 $141.1
City Directory operating loss – 1.7 2.1
City Directory loss on sale – 4.9 –
Risk/U.K. Vehicle operating profit – – (10.5)
Risk/U.K. Vehicle loss on sale – – 2.5
Interest Expense, Risk/HPI sale – – 4.5
Interest Income, Risk/HPI sale – – 1.9
Income Tax Adjustment – – 5.5
2001 restructuring and 

impairment charges – 35.3 –
SFAS 142 Amortization – 18.5 19.6

Adjusted Income from 
continuing operations $191.3 $177.7 $166.7

GAAP diluted EPS from 
continuing operations $ 1.38 $ 0.84 $ 1.04
City Directory operating loss – 0.02 0.02
City Directory loss on sale – 0.04 –
Risk/U.K. Vehicle operating profit – – (0.08)
Risk/U.K. Vehicle loss on sale – – 0.02
Interest Expense, Risk/HPI sale – – 0.03
Interest Income, Risk/HPI sale – – 0.02
Income Tax Adjustment – – 0.04
2001 restructuring and 

impairment charges – 0.25 –
SFAS 142 Amortization – 0.13 0.14

Adjusted diluted EPS from 
continuing operations $ 1.38 $ 1.28 $ 1.23

A P P L I C A T I O N  O F  C R I T I C A L
A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S  A N D  E S T I M A T E S
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabili-
ties in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes. The following accounting policies involve a “critical
accounting estimate” because they are particularly dependent on
estimates and assumptions made by management about matters
that are highly uncertain at the time the accounting estimates are
made. In addition, while we have used our best estimates based
on facts and circumstances available to us at the time, different
estimates reasonably could have been used in the current period,
or changes in the accounting estimates that we used are reason-
ably likely to occur from period to period which may have a mate-
rial impact on the presentation of our financial condition and
results of operations. We also have other key accounting policies,
which involve the use of estimates, judgments, and assumptions
that are significant to understanding our results. For additional
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information see Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, 
Note 1– Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies. Although
we believe that our estimates, assumptions and judgments are
reasonable, they are based upon information presently available.
Actual results may differ significantly from these estimates under
different assumptions, judgments or conditions.

R E V E N U E  R E C O G N I T I O N

We recognize revenue when the following four conditions are met:
(1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered, (3) the price is fixed or
determinable and (4) collectibility of the selling price is reasonably
assured. For sales contracts having multiple elements that can be
divided into separate units of accounting, we allocate revenue to
these separate units based on their relative fair values. If relative
fair values cannot be established, revenue recognition is deferred
until all elements under the contract have been delivered. Multiple
deliverable arrangements generally involve delivery of multiple
product lines. These product lines are distinct enough to be sepa-
rated into separate units of accounting. Each product line does
not impact the value or usage of other deliverables in the arrange-
ment, and each can be sold alone or purchased from another ven-
dor without affecting the quality of use or value to the customer of
the remaining deliverables. Delivery of product lines generally
occurs consistently over the contract period.

In conjunction with certain products and services, we charge non-
refundable set-up fees which we recognize on a pro-rata basis 
over the term of the contract. Revenue from the sale of decision or
statistical models is recognized upon customer installation and
acceptance. For certain products and services sold on a subscrip-
tion basis, we recognize revenue pro rata over the term of the con-
tract. We consider revenue recognition to be critical to all of our
operating segments due to the impact on our results of operations.

A L L O W A N C E  F O R  D O U B T F U L  A C C O U N T S

We evaluate the collectibility of our accounts receivable based on a
combination of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a
specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to us,
we record a specific allowance against amounts due to reduce the
net recognized receivable to the amount we reasonably believe 
will be collected. For all other accounts receivable, we recognize
allowances for doubtful accounts based on our past write-off expe-
rience (i.e., average percentage of receivables written off histori-
cally) and the length of time the receivables are past due. Allowances
for doubtful accounts were approximately $17.3 million or 9% of
the accounts receivable on our consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2002. Accounts receivable, net of allowances, was
approximately $179.8 million or 63% of total current assets in our
consolidated balance sheet of December 31, 2002. We consider

accounting for accounts receivable allowances critical to all of our
operating segments because of the significance of accounts receiv-
able to our current assets and operating cash flow. If the financial
condition of our customers was to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, or if economic con-
ditions worsened, additional allowances may be required in the
future, which could have a material effect on our consolidated
financial statements. We reassess our allowance for doubtful
accounts each period. If we made different judgments or utilized
different estimates for any period, material differences in the
amount and timing of revenue or expense recognized could result.

V A L U A T I O N  O F  L O N G - L I V E D  A N D  I N T A N G I B L E  A S S E T S

Goodwill and certain other intangible assets are tested for impair-
ment in accordance with SFAS 142, and all other long-lived assets
are tested for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”
We regularly evaluate whether events or circumstances have
occurred which indicate that the carrying amounts of long-lived
assets (principally goodwill, purchased data files, systems devel-
opment and other deferred costs, and investments in unconsoli-
dated subsidiaries) may be impaired or not recoverable. The
significant factors that are considered that could trigger an impair-
ment review include: changes in business strategy, market condi-
tions, or the manner of use of an asset; underperformance relative
to historical or expected future operating results; and negative
industry or economic trends. In evaluating an asset for possible
impairment, management estimates that asset’s future undis-
counted cash flows to measure whether the asset is recoverable. 
If it is determined that the asset is not recoverable, we measure
the impairment based on the projected discounted cash flows of
the asset over its remaining life. While we believe that our esti-
mates of future cash flows are reasonable, different assumptions
regarding such cash flows could materially affect these evalua-
tions. In 2001, the FASB issued Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,” which among other things, eliminates
the amortization of goodwill and certain other intangible assets
and requires that goodwill be evaluated annually for impairment
by applying a fair value-based test. We adopted the standard
effective January 1, 2002 for acquisitions prior to June 30, 2001,
and, in accordance with the standard, completed our first fair
value-based impairment tests by June 30, 2002.

L E G A L  C O N T I N G E N C I E S

We are subject to various proceedings, lawsuits, and claims aris-
ing in the normal course of our business. Our consolidated financial
statements reflect the treatment of claims and contingencies
based on our management’s view of the expected outcome. We
periodically review claims and legal proceedings and assess
whether we have potential financial exposure. If the likelihood of
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an adverse outcome from any claim or legal proceeding is probable
and the amount can be estimated, we accrue a liability for esti-
mated legal fees and settlements in accordance with SFAS No. 5,
“Accounting for Contingencies.”

I N C O M E  T A X E S

We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes.” As part of the process of preparing
our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate
our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate.
This process involves us estimating our current tax exposure
together with assessing temporary differences resulting from dif-
fering treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These
differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are
included in our consolidated balance sheet. We must then assess
the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from
future taxable income, and, to the extent we believe that recovery
is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent
we establish a valuation allowance or increase this allowance in 
a period, we must include an expense within the tax provision in
the statement of operations. A valuation allowance is currently set
against deferred tax assets because we believe it is more likely
than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized through
the generation of future taxable income. Significant management
judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes
and our deferred tax assets and liabilities and our future taxable
income for purposes of assessing our ability to realize any future
benefit from our deferred tax assets. In the event that actual
results differ from these estimates or we adjust these estimates in
future periods, our operating results and financial position could be
materially affected.

R E T I R E M E N T  P L A N S

Our pension plans and postretirement benefit plans are accounted
for using actuarial valuations required by SFAS No. 87, “Employers’
Accounting for Pensions,” and SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Account-
ing for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions.” Our pension
and postretirement benefit liabilities were approximately $117.0 mil-
lion or 9% of the total liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet
as of December 31, 2002. We consider accounting for retirement
plans critical to all of our operating segments because our manage-
ment is required to make significant subjective judgments about a
number of actuarial assumptions, which include discount rates,
health care cost trends rates, salary growth, long-term return on
plan assets and mortality rates. Depending on the assumptions and
estimates used, the pension and postretirement benefit expense
could vary within a range of outcomes and have a material effect on
our consolidated financial statements.

F O R W A R D - L O O K I N G  S T A T E M E N T S
As used herein, the terms “Equifax,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to
Equifax Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries
as a combined entity, except where it is clear that the terms mean
only Equifax Inc.

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within
the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. In addition,
certain statements included in our future filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), in press releases, and in
oral and written statements made by us or with our approval, that
are not statements of historical fact, are forward-looking state-
ments. Words such as “may,” “could,” “should,” “would,”
“believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “seeks,”
“plan,” “project,” “continue,” “predict,” and other words or
expressions of similar meaning are intended to identify forward-
looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements
contain these identifying words. These forward-looking statements
are found at various places throughout this report and in the docu-
ments incorporated herein by reference. These statements are
based on our current expectations about future events or results
and information that is currently available to us, involve assump-
tions, risks and uncertainties, and speak only as of the date on
which such statements are made. We disclaim any intention or obli-
gation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether
as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

Our actual results may differ materially from the results discussed
in such forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause such a
difference, include, but are not limited to: declines in the rate of
growth, or absolute declines, in consumer spending and consumer
debt in our market areas; changes in the marketing techniques of
credit card issuers; increased pricing pressures; changes in or
failure to comply with U.S. and international legislation or govern-
mental regulations, including the Fair Credit Reporting Act and
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act; successful integration of acquisitions;
exchange rate fluctuations and other risks associated with invest-
ments and operations in foreign countries; increased domestic or
international competition; our ability to successfully develop and
market new products and services, successful incorporation of
new technology and adaptation to technological change and
equity markets, including market disruptions and significant inter-
est rate fluctuations, which may impede our access to, or increase
the cost of, external financing; increased competitive pressures
both domestically and internationally; and international conflict,
including terrorist acts and other risks and unforeseen factors,
including those described in this Annual Report and the documents 
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that we file from time to time with the SEC, including but not
limited to, our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

Q U A N T I T A T I V E  A N D  Q U A L I T A T I V E
D I S C L O S U R E  A B O U T  M A R K E T  R I S K
In the normal course of our business, we are exposed to market 
risk, primarily from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and
changes in interest rates, that could impact our results of opera-
tions and financial position. We manage our exposure to these
market risks through our regular operating and financing activities,
and when deemed appropriate, through the use of derivative finan-
cial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to hedge certain of
these exposures. We use derivative financial instruments as risk
management tools and not for speculative or trading purposes.

F O R E I G N  C U R R E N C Y  E X C H A N G E  R A T E  R I S K

A substantial majority of our revenue, expense, and capital expen-
diture activities are transacted in U.S. dollars. However, we do
transact business in other currencies, primarily the British pound,
the euro, the Canadian dollar, and the Brazilian real. For most of
these foreign currencies, we are a net recipient, and therefore,
benefit from a weaker U.S. dollar and are adversely affected by a
stronger U.S. dollar relative to the foreign currencies in which we
transact significant amounts of business.

We are required to translate, or express in U.S. dollars, the assets
and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries that are denominated or
measured in foreign currencies at the applicable year-end rate of
exchange on our consolidated balance sheet, and income state-
ment items of our foreign subsidiaries at the average rates prevail-
ing during the year. We record the resulting translation adjustment,
and gains and losses resulting from the translation of intercom-
pany balances of a long-term investment nature, as components 
of our shareholders’ equity. Other immaterial foreign currency
translation gains and losses are recorded in our consolidated
statements of income. We do not, as a matter of policy, hedge
translational foreign currency exposure. We will, however, hedge
foreign currency exchange rate risks associated with material
transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency.

At December 31, 2002 we have hedged our foreign currency
exchange rate risks associated with the acquisition of our Italian
businesses in the fourth quarter of 2000, by borrowing under our
$465.0 million revolving credit facility in euros. At December 31,
2002, the foreign currency exchange rate risks associated with
loans which funded the acquisition of our Italian businesses during
the fourth quarter of 2000 were hedged by denominating a portion
of the borrowings under our $465.0 million revolving credit facility
in euros.

At December 31, 2002, a 10% weaker U.S. dollar against the
currencies of all foreign countries in which we had operations
during 2002, would have resulted in an increase of our revenues 
by $27.8 million, and an increase of our pre-tax operating profit by
$6.4 million. A 10% stronger U.S. dollar would have resulted in
similar decreases to our revenues and pre-tax operating profit.

I N T E R E S T  R A T E  R I S K

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates primarily
relates to our variable rate revolving credit debt and the interest
rate swap agreements associated with portions of our fixed rate
public debt.

We attempt to achieve the lowest all-in weighted average cost of
debt while simultaneously taking into account the mix of our fixed
and floating rate debt, and the average life and scheduled maturi-
ties of our debt. At December 31, 2002, our weighted average cost
of debt was 5.1% and the weighted average life of our debt was
5.8 years.

We generally target a mix of fixed and floating rate debt which lies
within a range of 30-70% fixed, with the balance being floating rate.
At December 31, 2002, 66% of our debt was fixed rate, and the
remaining 34% floating rate. We use derivatives to manage our expo-
sure to changes in interest rates by entering into interest rate swaps.
As of December 31, 2002, we had $279.0 million, notional amount, of
interest rate swap agreements outstanding with bank counterparties.

Our variable rate indebtedness consists primarily of our $465.0 mil-
lion revolving credit facility and a separate C$100.0 million revolv-
ing credit facility in Canada. The rate of interest we pay on our
$465.0 million facility is based on a floating rate pricing grid tied to
our long-term senior unsecured debt rating. We are currently rated
A– by Standard & Poor’s and Baa1 by Moody’s Investor Service. In
the case of a split rating, pricing is based on the higher rating, i.e.,
A– from S&P. We can borrow under the facility at floating rates of
interest tied to Base Rate and the London Interbank Offered Rate,
or LIBOR. A competitive bid option is also available, dependent on
liquidity in the bank market. At December 31, 2002, $21.8 million
of debt was outstanding and $443.2 million of additional borrow-
ing capacity was available under this facility. Borrowings under our
Canadian facility bear interest at a floating rate tied to Prime,
LIBOR, or Canadian Banker’s Acceptances. As of December 31,
2002, C$46.0 million (U.S.$29.3 million) of debt was outstanding,
and C$54.0 million (U.S.$34.3 million) of additional borrowing
capacity was available under our Canadian facility.
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We have interest rate swap agreements in place to float the inter-
est rate on $250.0 million of our fixed rate, 6.3% senior unsecured
notes through their maturity date in 2005. These swaps have been
designated as fair value hedges, were documented as fully effec-
tive under SFAS 133, and were valued on a mark-to-market basis as
an asset totaling $18.3 million at December 31, 2002. The offset-
ting liability of $18.3 million is included as an addition to long-term
debt. These swaps give us the right to receive fixed rate payments
from the counterparties, in exchange for floating rate payments
from us. The floating rate payments on these interest rate swaps
are tied to 6-month LIBOR plus a spread, with net settlements paid
semi-annually. The final maturity of these interest rate swaps is
July 2005, coinciding with the final maturity of the associated notes.

We also have a $29.0 million floating-to-fixed interest rate swap,
maturing 2010, which fixes the effective rate of interest on the
$29.0 million synthetic lease for our Atlanta corporate headquar-
ters. This derivative instrument is designated as a cash flow hedge,
was documented as fully effective under SFAS 133, and was val-
ued on a mark-to-market basis as a liability totaling $4.7 million at
December 31, 2002. This interest rate swap gives us the right to
receive a floating rate payment tied to 3-month LIBOR plus a spread
from the counterparty, in exchange for a fixed rate payment from
us. The net settlements occur quarterly.

A 1% increase in the average rate of interest on the variable rate
debt outstanding under our revolving credit facilities during 2002
would have increased our pre-tax interest expense by $2.0 million.

A 1% increase in the average rate of interest associated with the
floating rate payments due under our interest rate swap agreements
during 2002 would have increased our pre-tax interest expense by
$2.5 million. Since all of our interest rate swaps are fully effective,
our income statement is unaffected by the non-cash quarterly 
mark-to-market adjustments associated with these derivatives.
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The table below summarizes our selected historical financial information for each of the last five years. The financial information for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 has been derived from our audited financial statements that follow. The financial
information for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 has been derived from statements not included in this report. The his-
torical selected financial information may not be indicative of our future performance, and should be read in conjunction with the infor-
mation contained in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and the financial
statements. As a result of the spin-off of Certegy Inc. our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 1998 through 
2001, have been restated to isolate and show Certegy’s net assets, results of operations, and cash flows as Discontinued Operations.
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(In millions, except per share and employee data)

Year Ended December 31, 2002

SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
Operating revenue $1,109.3
Operating income(1) (2) $ 351.3
Income from continuing operations(1) (2) $ 191.3
Dividends paid $ 11.4
PER COMMON SHARE (diluted)
Income from continuing operations per share(1) (2) $ 1.38
Dividends $ 0.080

Weighted-average common shares outstanding (diluted) 138.5

December 31, 2002

BALANCE SHEET DATA
Total assets $1,506.9
Long-term debt $ 690.6
Total debt $ 924.5
Shareholders’ equity $ 221.0
Common shares outstanding 135.7

OTHER INFORMATION
Stock price per share(3) $ 23.14
Market capitalization(3) $3,152.6
Employees – continuing operations 5,000

(1) In 2001, we recorded restructuring and other charges of $60.4 million ($35.3 million after tax, or $0.25 per share) 
for employee severance, facilities consolidation, and the write-down of certain technology assets.

(2) In 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” 
SFAS 142 modifies the accounting for business combinations, goodwill, and identifiable intangible assets. 
As of January 1, 2002 all goodwill amortization ceased.

(3) Stock prices and market capitalization prior to 2001 have been adjusted to reflect the spin-off of Certegy.
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2001 2000 1999 1998

$1,139.0 $1,189.2 $1,092.7 $1,055.8
$ 253.8 $ 308.6 $ 286.3 $ 261.9
$ 117.3 $ 141.1 $ 147.7 $ 135.2
$ 32.3 $ 52.3 $ 52.0 $ 52.1

$ 0.84 $ 1.04 $ 1.06 $ 0.94
$ 0.225 $ 0.370 $ 0.363 $ 0.353

139.0 136.0 139.6 144.4

2001 2000 1999 1998

$1,422.6 $1,893.1 $1,607.9 $1,675.6
$ 693.6 $ 993.4 $ 933.4 $ 868.8
$ 755.6 $1,047.6 $1,012.3 $ 914.4
$ 243.5 $ 383.6 $ 215.5 $ 366.5

136.2 135.8 134.0 140.0

$ 24.15 $ 16.98 $ 13.95 $ 20.24
$3,288.4 $2,306.9 $1,869.0 $2,834.2

5,200 6,500 7,800 9,500
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(In millions, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Operating revenue $1,109.3 $1,139.0 $1,189.2

Costs and expenses:
Costs of services 427.6 451.0 513.2
Selling, general and administrative expenses 249.9 267.6 261.2
Depreciation 12.9 17.1 21.9
Amortization 67.6 63.7 59.9
Goodwill amortization (Note 1) – 25.4 24.4
Restructuring and impairment charges (Note 5) – 60.4 –

Total costs and expenses 758.0 885.2 880.6
Operating income 351.3 253.8 308.6

Other income (expense), net 6.8 (1.2) 3.7
Minority interest in earnings, net of tax (2.0) (2.2) (7.1)
Interest expense (41.2) (47.8) (55.8)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 314.9 202.6 249.4
Provision for income taxes (123.6) (85.3) (108.3)

Income from continuing operations 191.3 117.3 141.1
Discontinued operations (Note 2):

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income tax (benefit) expense 
of ($2.2), $21.4, and $49.1, respectively (13.3) 33.6 86.9

Costs associated with effecting the spin-off, net of income tax benefit of $8.1 – (28.4) –
Total discontinued operations (13.3) 5.2 86.9

Net income $ 178.0 $ 122.5 $ 228.0
Per common share (basic):

Income from continuing operations $ 1.41 $ 0.86 $ 1.05
Discontinued operations (0.10) 0.04 0.65
Net income $ 1.31 $ 0.90 $ 1.70

Shares used in computing basic earnings per share 136.2 136.8 134.4
Per common share (diluted):

Income from continuing operations $ 1.38 $ 0.84 $ 1.04
Discontinued operations (0.10) 0.04 0.64
Net income $ 1.29 $ 0.88 $ 1.68

Shares used in computing diluted earnings per share 138.5 139.0 136.0
Dividends per common share $ 0.080 $ 0.225 $ 0.370

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)

Year Ended December 31 2002 2001 2000 
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $178.0 $122.5 $228.0 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided

by operating activities of continuing operations:
Loss (income) from discontinued operations 13.3 (33.6) (86.9)
Costs associated with effecting the spin-off – 28.4 – 
Depreciation and amortization 80.5 106.2 106.2 
Restructuring and impairment charges – 60.4 – 
Income tax benefit from stock plans 6.6 4.5 5.6
Deferred income taxes 17.9 8.2 19.6 
Loss from sale of businesses – 5.8 4.2 
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable, net 27.5 16.1 (33.4)
Current liabilities, excluding debt (31.7) (31.3) (7.3)
Other current assets 12.0 (0.6) (13.0)
Other long-term liabilities, excluding debt (10.8) (17.4) (13.0)
Other assets (44.5) (14.1) (17.2)

Cash provided by operating activities 248.8 255.1 192.8 

Investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment (12.8) (13.0) (26.0)
Additions to other assets, net (43.0) (34.1) (45.9)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (321.2) (43.5) (336.6)
Investments in unconsolidated companies (0.1) (25.2) (10.2)
Proceeds from sale of businesses 41.0 5.4 149.2 
Proceeds from sale of assets – 7.0 8.3 
Deferred payments on prior year acquisitions (4.9) (3.1) (1.8)

Cash used by investing activities (341.0) (106.5) (263.0)

Financing activities:
Net short-term (payments) borrowings (25.8) 9.3 (21.0)
Additions to long-term debt 249.5 – 73.0 
Payments on long-term debt (75.0) (298.9) (3.3)
Treasury stock purchases (79.8) (42.3) (6.5)
Dividends paid (11.4) (32.3) (52.3)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 34.2 36.4 23.2 
Other 0.9 2.3 3.3 

Cash provided (used) by financing activities 92.6 (325.5) 16.4 
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash (2.8) (5.6) (5.3)
Cash (used) provided by discontinued operations (0.3) 156.1 15.7 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2.7) (26.4) (43.4)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 33.2 59.6 103.0 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 30.5 $ 33.2 $ 59.6 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(In millions, except par values)

December 31 2002 2001

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 30.5 $ 33.2 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful

accounts of $17.3 in 2002 and $14.0 in 2001 179.8 197.0 
Other receivables 20.8 69.2 
Deferred income tax assets 20.9 26.4 
Other current assets 33.6 32.2 

Total current assets 285.6 358.0 

Property and Equipment:
Land, buildings and improvements 29.3 32.3 
Data processing equipment and furniture 115.9 134.9 

145.2 167.2 

Less accumulated depreciation 94.6 112.0 

50.6 55.2 

Goodwill, net 650.5 516.5

Purchased Data Files, net 265.4 207.0 

Other Assets 247.3 285.9 

Assets of Discontinued Operations 7.5 –

$1,506.9 $1,422.6 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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(In millions, except par values)

December 31 2002 2001

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Short-term debt and current maturities $ 233.9 $ 62.0 
Accounts payable 16.5 13.2 
Accrued salaries and bonuses 31.0 26.5 
Other current liabilities 146.5 174.2 

Total current liabilities 427.9 275.9 

Long-Term Debt 690.6 693.6 

Deferred Revenue 11.7 17.2 

Deferred Income Tax Liabilities 25.9 88.6 

Other Long-Term Liabilities 122.6 103.8 

Liabilities of Discontinued Operations 7.2 – 

Total liabilities 1,285.9 1,179.1 

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10)
Shareholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: Authorized – 10.0; Issued – none – – 
Common stock, $1.25 par value:

Authorized shares – 300.0
Issued shares – 180.1 in 2002 and 178.4 in 2001
Outstanding shares – 135.7 in 2002 and 136.2 in 2001 225.1 223.0 

Paid-in capital 412.0 376.7 
Retained earnings 925.4 758.8 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) (359.4) (197.2)
Treasury stock, at cost, 38.1 shares in 2002

and 35.2 shares in 2001 (Note 8) (899.7) (828.0)
Stock held by employee benefits trusts, at cost,

6.3 shares in 2002 and 7.0 shares in 2001 (Note 8) (82.4) (89.8)

Total shareholders’ equity 221.0 243.5 

$1,506.9 $1,422.6 
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Common Stock: 
Shares Paid-In Retained 

(In millions) Outstanding Amount Capital Earnings 
Balance, December 31, 1999 134.0 $217.8 $304.5 $726.8

Net income – – – 228.0 
Other comprehensive loss – – – –
Shares issued under stock plans 1.8 2.2 21.1 –
Treasury stock purchased (0.3) – – –
Treasury stock reissued for acquisitions 0.3 – 2.6 –
Cost of treasury stock transferred to 

employee benefits trust – – – –
Cash dividends – – – (52.3)
Income tax benefit from stock plans – – 5.6 –
Dividends from employee benefits trusts – – 2.7 –

Balance, December 31, 2000 135.8 220.0 336.5 902.5 
Net income – – – 122.5 
Other comprehensive loss – – – –
Shares issued under stock plans 2.5 3.0 33.7 –
Treasury stock purchased (2.1) – – –
Cash dividends – – – (32.3)
Spin-off of Certegy Inc. – – – (233.9)
Income tax benefit from stock plans – – 4.9 –
Dividends from employee benefits trusts – – 1.6 –

Balance, December 31, 2001 136.2 223.0 376.7 758.8
Net income – – – 178.0
Other comprehensive loss – – – –
Shares issued under stock plans 2.4 2.1 28.2 –
Treasury stock purchased (2.9) – – –
Cash dividends – – – (11.4)
Income tax benefit from stock plans – – 6.6 –
Dividends from employee benefits trusts – – 0.5 –

Balance, December 31, 2002 135.7 $225.1 $412.0 $925.4 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss consists of the following components at December 31: 

2002 2001 2000
Foreign currency translation $(239.6) $(191.8) $(202.8)
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $70.2 in 2002, $3.2 in 2001, and $2.3 in 2000 (117.0) (4.6) (3.3)
Cash flow hedging transactions, net of tax of $1.9 in 2002 and $0.6 in 2001 (2.8) (0.8) – 

$(359.4) $(197.2) $(206.1) 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Accumulative Stock Held 
Other By Employee Total 

Comprehensive Treasury Benefits Shareholders’ 
(Loss) Income Stock Trusts Equity 

$(162.0) $(816.2) $(55.4) $215.5 
– – – 228.0 

(44.1) – – (44.1)
– 0.4 0.4 24.1 
– (6.5) – (6.5)
– 8.0 – 10.6 

– 35.3 (35.3) – 
– – – (52.3)
– – – 5.6 
– – – 2.7 

(206.1) (779.0) (90.3) 383.6 
– – – 122.5 

(67.3) – – (67.3)
– 0.5 0.5 37.7 
– (49.5) – (49.5)
– – – (32.3)

76.2 – – (157.7)
– – – 4.9 
– – – 1.6 

(197.2) (828.0) (89.8) 243.5 
– – – 178.0 

(162.2) – – (162.2)
– 0.8 7.4 38.5 
– (72.5) – (72.5)
– – – (11.4)
– – – 6.6 
– – – 0.5 

$(359.4) $(899.7) $(82.4) $221.0

Comprehensive Income is as follows: 

2002 2001 2000 
Net income $178.0 $122.5 $228.0 
Other comprehensive loss: 

Foreign currency translation adjustment (47.8) (65.2) (45.5)
Minimum pension liability adjustment (112.4) (1.3) 1.4 
Change in cumulative loss from cash flow hedging transactions (2.0) (0.8) – 

$ 15.8 $ 55.2 $183.9 
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1.
S I G N I F I C A N T  A C C O U N T I N G  A N D  R E P O R T I N G  P O L I C I E S

Accounting Principles Our financial statements and accompa-
nying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Principles of Consolidation Our Consolidated Financial
Statements include the accounts of Equifax Inc. and its majority-
owned and controlled subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated. Certain prior year
amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year
presentation. The 2000 financial statements presented have been
restated to reflect the spin-off of Certegy Inc. (Note 2).

Nature of Operations We provide information services to busi-
nesses to help them grant credit and market to their customers.
We also provide products via the Internet to individuals to enable
them to manage and protect their financial affairs (see Note 12 for
segment information). Our primary markets include retailers, banks
and other financial institutions, the transportation, telecommuni-
cations, utility, and manufacturing industries, as well as consumers
and government. Our operations are predominantly located within
the United States, with foreign operations principally located in
Canada, the United Kingdom, and Brazil.

Use of Estimates Our financial statements are prepared in con-
formity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. Those principles require us to make estimates and assump-
tions. We believe that these estimates and assumptions are rea-
sonable based upon information available to us at the time they are
made. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Estimates and assumptions are used for, but not limited to, the
accounting for the allowance for doubtful accounts, goodwill
impairments, contingencies, restructuring costs, preliminary allo-
cation of purchase price of acquisitions, and valuation of pension
assets. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue We recognize
revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is
fixed or determinable, and collectibility of the selling price is rea-
sonably assured. For sales contracts having multiple elements that
can be divided into separate units of accounting, we allocate rev-
enue to these separate units based on their relative fair values. If
relative fair values cannot be established, revenue recognition is
deferred until all elements under the contract have been delivered.

Multiple deliverable arrangements generally involve delivery of
multiple product lines. These product lines are distinct enough to
be separated into separate units of accounting. Each product line
does not impact the value or usage of other deliverables in the
arrangement, and each can be sold alone or purchased from another
vendor without affecting the quality of use or value to the
customer of the remaining deliverables. Delivery of product lines
generally occurs consistently over the contract period.

In conjunction with certain products and services, we charge a
non-refundable set-up fee which is recognized ratably on a pro-
rata basis over the term of the contract. Revenue from the sale of
decision or statistical models is recognized upon customer instal-
lation and acceptance. For certain products and services sold on a
subscription basis, we recognize revenue pro rata over the term of
the contract.

Amounts billed in advance are recorded as current or long-term
deferred revenue on the balance sheet, with current deferred rev-
enue reflecting services expected to be provided within the next
twelve months. Current deferred revenue is included with other
current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets,
and as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, totaled $22.9 million and
$21.8 million, respectively. In 1996, we received a one-time payment
of $58.0 million related to a lottery subcontract and recognized
$5.4 million in revenue. The remaining balance was recognized as
revenue over the term of the contract, with $9.6 million per year
recognized in 1997 through 2001 and $4.4 million recognized in
2002. In conjunction with the divestiture of our risk management
collections businesses in the U.S. and Canada in October 2000
(Note 4), certain of the proceeds received related to contracts to
provide credit information products and services to the buyers over
the next five to six years and were recorded in current and long-
term deferred revenue. At December 31, 2002, $14.9 million
remained unrecognized, with $10.6 million included in long-term
deferred revenue in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. This deferred revenue will be recognized as the contracted
products and services are provided.

Trade Accounts Receivable The provision for losses on 
trade accounts receivable was $17.3 million, write-offs were 
$12.6 million and recoveries were $1 million for 2002, and were
included in the “selling, general and administrative expenses” line
item on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.

Costs of Services Costs of services consist primarily of data
acquisition and royalties; customer service costs, which include:
personnel costs to collect, maintain and update our proprietary
databases, to develop and maintain software application plat-
forms, and to provide consumer and customer call center support;
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hardware and software expense associated with transaction pro-
cessing systems; telecommunication and computer network
expense; and occupancy costs associated with facilities where
these functions are performed.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses Selling, 
general and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel
costs paid to sales and administrative employees and management.

Legal Contingencies We periodically review claims and legal
proceedings and assess whether we have potential financial expo-
sure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding is
probable and can be estimated, we accrue a liability for estimated
legal fees and settlements.

Income Taxes We base income tax expense on pre-tax financial
accounting income, and recognize deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported
amounts. Significant judgment is required to determine our global
income tax expense due to transactions and calculations where
the ultimate tax consequence is uncertain, and we record a valua-
tion allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount of
future tax benefit that is likely to be received. We believe that our
estimates are reasonable, however, the final outcome of tax mat-
ters may be different than the estimates reflected on our financials.

Earnings Per Share Our basic earnings per share, or EPS is cal-
culated as income available to common stockholders divided by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted EPS is calculated to reflect the potential
dilution that would occur if stock options or other contracts to
issue common stock were exercised and resulted in additional
common shares outstanding. The income amount used in our EPS
calculations is the same for both basic and diluted EPS. A recon-
ciliation of the weighted average outstanding shares used in the
two calculations is as follows:

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Weighted average shares 

outstanding (basic) 136.2 136.8 134.4
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options 2.3 2.1 1.4
Long-term incentive plans – 0.1 0.2

Weighted average shares 
outstanding (diluted) 138.5 139.0 136.0

Property and Equipment The cost of property and equipment 
is depreciated primarily on the straight-line basis over estimated
asset lives of 30 to 50 years for buildings; useful lives, not to
exceed lease terms, for leasehold improvements; three to five
years for data processing equipment; and eight to 20 years for
other fixed assets.

Goodwill Prior to 2002, goodwill was amortized on a straight-
line basis predominantly over periods from 20 to 40 years. In 2001,
the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” or SFAS 142. SFAS 142
eliminates the amortization of goodwill and certain other intangi-
ble assets and requires that goodwill be evaluated for impairment
by applying a fair value-based test. We adopted the standard effec-
tive June 30, 2001, for all subsequent acquisitions, and adopted
the standard effective January 1, 2002 for all acquisitions that
occurred prior to June 30, 2001. We completed fair value-based
impairment tests and in doing so, we determined that goodwill
was not impaired; therefore no transitional impairment charge
was recorded.

Amortization expense was $25.4 million in 2001 and $24.4 million
in 2000. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, accumulated amorti-
zation balances were $88.2 million and $94.5 million, respectively.

A reconciliation of 2001 and 2000 reported earnings with pro
forma earnings excluding goodwill amortization is shown on the
table below (in millions, except per share amounts):

As Amortization
Year Ended December 31, 2001: Reported (Net of Tax) Pro Forma

Income from continuing 
operations $117.3 $18.5 $135.8

Income from continuing 
operations per share 
(diluted) $ 0.84 $0.13 $ 0.98

Net income $122.5 $22.0 $144.5
Net income per share 

(diluted) $ 0.88 $0.16 $ 1.04

Year Ended December 31, 2000:

Income from continuing 
operations $141.1 $19.6 $160.7

Income from continuing 
operations per share 
(diluted) $ 1.04 $0.14 $ 1.18

Net income $228.0 $25.6 $253.6
Net income per share (diluted) $ 1.68 $0.18 $ 1.86
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Purchased Data Files Purchased data files are amortized on a
straight-line basis primarily over 15 years. Amortization expense
was $26.3 million in 2002, $21.8 million in 2001, and $20.2 million
in 2000. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, accumulated amortiza-
tion balances were $147.5 million and $136.6 million, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets We test long-lived assets 
for impairment annually, and more frequently if events and circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amounts of such assets may not
be recoverable. If potential indicators of impairment exist, we
estimate recoverability using undiscounted future cash flows
resulting from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition.
If the carrying value of the assets exceeds the estimated future
undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss is recorded for the
excess of the assets’ carrying value over the fair value.

Other Assets Other assets at December 31, 2002 and 2001
consist of the following:

(In millions) 2002 2001
Systems development and other deferred costs $102.8 $ 81.5
Purchased software 22.1 28.6
Prepaid pension cost 13.3 97.3
Risk management purchased paper (Note 4) 1.7 31.2
Investments in unconsolidated companies 27.4 26.3
Indefinite lived intangible and other 80.0 21.0

$247.3 $285.9

Purchased software and systems development and other deferred
costs are being amortized on a straight-line basis over five to ten
years. Amortization expense for other assets was $39.7 million 
in 2002, $38.7 million in 2001, and $36.7 million in 2000. As of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, accumulated amortization balances
were $123.9 million and $117.6 million, respectively. For intangible
assets subject to amortization, the estimated aggregate amor-
tization expense is $70.7 million for 2003, $69.7 million for 2004, 
$57.3 million for 2005, $40.9 million for 2006 and $35.2 million for
2007. We have entered into strategic investments in privately held
companies totaling $27.4 million and $26.3 million at December 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively. These investments are accounted for
under the cost method as we do not exercise significant influence
over the investment entities or hold significant levels of owner-
ship. Investments in unconsolidated companies also include a
notes receivable from a company of $20.0 million which is due
November 2006. We regularly review these investments for
impairment issues, and in the fourth quarter 2001, we wrote off
investments totaling $6.9 million (Note 5). We believe that these
investments are appropriately valued at December 31, 2002.

Foreign Currency Translation The functional currency of our
foreign subsidiaries are those subsidiaries’ local currencies. We

translate the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries at the
year-end rate of exchange, and income statement items at the
average rates prevailing during the year. We record the resulting
translation adjustment as a component of shareholders’ equity.
We also record gains and losses resulting from the translation of
intercompany balances of a long-term investment nature as a com-
ponent of shareholders’ equity. We record other foreign currency
translation gains and losses, which are not material, in the con-
solidated statements of income.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows We consider cash
equivalents to be short-term cash investments with original
maturities of three months or less.

Cash paid for income taxes and interest from continuing
operations is as follows:

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Income taxes, net of amounts refunded $92.6 $78.4 $81.7
Interest 41.8 49.7 56.0

In 2002, 2001, and 2000, we acquired various businesses that
were accounted for as purchases (Note 3). In conjunction with
these transactions, liabilities were recorded as follows:

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Fair value of assets acquired $344.2 $50.4 $368.2
Cash paid for acquisitions 328.4 44.4 334.8
Value of treasury stock reissued 

for acquisitions – – 10.6
Liabilities recorded $ 15.8 $ 6.0 $ 22.8

Financial Instruments Our financial instruments consist pri-
marily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable,
accounts payable, and short-term and long-term debt. The carrying
amounts of these items, other than long-term debt, approximate
their fair market values due to their short maturity. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2002, the fair value of our long-term debt (determined
primarily by broker quotes) was $720.5 million compared to its
carrying value of $690.6 million.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation In accordance
with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(SFAS No. 123), we have elected to apply APB Opinion No. 25 and
related interpretations in accounting for our stock option and per-
formance share plans. Accordingly, we do not recognize compen-
sation cost in connection with our stock option plans and record
compensation expense related to our performance share plan
based on the current market price of the our common stock and 
the extent to which performance criteria are being met.
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We have computed the pro forma disclosures required under 
SFAS No. 123 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
The fair value of options granted in 2002, 2001, and 2000 is esti-
mated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model based on the following weighted average assumptions:

2002 2001 2000
Dividend yield 0.3% 0.5% 1.7%
Expected volatility 40.8% 41.0% 42.0%
Risk-free interest rate 3.5% 4.2% 6.5%
Expected life in years 2.9 2.6 2.3

The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of options
granted in 2002, 2001, and 2000 is as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Grants (all at market price) $7.51 $8.80 $6.14

If we had elected to recognize compensation cost for these 
plans based on the fair value at grant date as prescribed by SFAS
No. 123, net income and net income per share would have been
reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated in the table below 
(in millions, except per share amounts):
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2002 2001 2000
Pro Pro Pro

Reported Forma Reported Forma Reported Forma
Net income $178.0 $163.9 $122.5 $102.6 $228.0 $211.9
Net income per share (basic) $ 1.31 $ 1.20 $ 0.90 $ 0.75 $ 1.70 $ 1.58
Net income per share (diluted) $ 1.29 $ 1.18 $ 0.88 $ 0.74 $ 1.68 $ 1.56

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities Effective
January 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” or SFAS 133. 
SFAS 133 requires that a company recognize derivatives as assets
or liabilities on its balance sheet, and also requires that the gain 
or loss related to the effective portion of derivatives designated 
as cash flow hedges be recorded as a component of other 
comprehensive income.

We enter into hedging transactions in order to reduce financial
volatility and manage the fixed-floating mix of our debt portfolio. As
of December 31, 2002, the only hedging transactions to which we
were a counterparty consisted of interest rate swap agreements.

At December 31, 2002, we have a $29.0 million notional amount
floating-to-fixed interest rate swap agreement in place with a bank
counterparty that fixes the interest rate on the $29.0 million syn-
thetic lease related to our corporate headquarters through its matu-
rity in 2010. This hedge has been designated as a cash flow hedge
under SFAS 133, is fully effective, and at December 31, 2002, was
valued as a liability totaling $4.7 million. This liability is included
with other current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets, and the related loss was recorded, net of income
tax, as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss.

At December 31, 2002, we also have interest rate swap agree-
ments in place with a bank counterparty to float the interest rate
on $250.0 million of our fixed rate senior unsecured notes through
their maturity date in 2005. These derivatives have been desig-
nated as fair value hedges and are fully effective. The value of
these swaps was $18.3 million at December 31, 2002, and was 

recorded as an asset along with a corresponding increase in 
long-term debt.

Our maximum exposure to loss due to credit risk on these interest
rate swap agreements approximates $13.5 million if all of the bank
counterparties default. We mitigate this exposure by monitoring
the concentration of risk exposure that we have with any one bank,
and through the use of minimum credit quality standards for 
all counterparties.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements In January 2002, 
we adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” or SFAS 144. The statement super-
sedes SFAS No. 121,“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,” but retains
the fundamental provisions of that statement related to the recog-
nition and measurement of the impairment of long-lived assets to
be held and used while expanding the measurement requirements
of long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale to include discontin-
ued operations. SFAS 144 also supersedes Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 30,“ Reporting the Results of Operations –
Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and
Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions,” or APB 30, for the disposal of a segment of busi-
ness, extending the reporting of a discontinued operation to a
“component of an entity.” Further, SFAS 144 requires operating
losses from a “component of an entity” to be recognized in the
period(s) in which they occur rather than at the measurement date
as had been required under APB 30.
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In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement 
No. 13, and Technical Corrections or SFAS 145.” SFAS 145 amends
SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases,” to eliminate inconsistency
between the required accounting for sale-leaseback transactions
and the required accounting for certain lease modifications that
have economic effects that are similar to sale-leaseback transac-
tions. SFAS 145 also rescinds SFAS 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses
from Extinguishment of Debt.” Accordingly, gains or losses from
extinguishment of debt shall not be reported as extraordinary
items unless the extinguishment qualifies as an extraordinary item
under the criteria APB 30, SFAS 145 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after May 15, 2002. We adopted SFAS 145 on 
January 1, 2003.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” or SFAS 146.
SFAS 146 provides guidance related to accounting for costs asso-
ciated with disposal activities covered by SFAS 144 or with exit or
restructuring activities previously covered by Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” SFAS 146
supersedes EITF Issue No. 94-3 in its entirety. SFAS 146 requires
that costs related to exiting an activity or to a restructuring not be
recognized until the liability is incurred. SFAS 146 will be applied
prospectively to exit or disposal activities that are initiated after
December 31, 2002. We adopted SFAS 146 on January 1, 2003.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45, 
or FIN 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others.” FIN 45 currently requires that a liability be recorded in the
guarantor’s balance sheet upon issuance of a guarantee. In addi-
tion, as of December 31, 2002, FIN 45 requires disclosures about
the guarantees that an entity has issued, including a roll-forward
of the entity’s product warranty liabilities. We adopted the dis-
closure requirements of FIN 45 effective December 31, 2002 and
the remaining provisions on January 1, 2003 and have included 
the required disclosures in these Notes to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue 
No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.”
EITF Issue No. 00-21 provides guidance on how to account for
arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of multiple
products, services and/or rights to use assets. The provisions of
EITF Issue No. 00-21 will apply to revenue arrangements entered
into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003 and are not
expected to have a material impact on our financial position or
results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting 
for Stock-Based Compensation, Transition and Disclosure or 
SFAS 148.” SFAS 148 provides alternative methods of transition
for a voluntary change to the fair value-based method of account-
ing for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS 148
amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” to currently require disclosure in the
summary of significant accounting policies of the effects of an
entity’s accounting policy with respect to stock-based employee
compensation on reported net income and earnings per share in
annual and interim financial statements. SFAS 148 does not amend
SFAS 123 to require companies to account for their employee
stock-based awards using the fair value method. However, the
disclosure provisions are required for all companies with stock-
based employee compensation, regardless of whether they utilize
the fair value method of accounting described in SFAS 123 or the
intrinsic value method described in APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees.” We adopted SFAS 148 on January 1,
2003 and have included the initial required disclosures in these
Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 
(“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” FIN 46 requires certain variable
interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of
the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the char-
acteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have suffi-
cient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support from other parties. 
FIN 46 is effective for all new variable interest entities created or
acquired after January 31, 2003. For variable interest entities cre-
ated or acquired prior to February 1, 2003, the provisions of FIN 46
must be applied for the first interim or annual period beginning
after June 15, 2003. We are evaluating the impact of FIN 46 on 
our financial position and results of operations.

2.
D I S C O N T I N U E D  O P E R A T I O N S

During the third quarter of 2002, we made the decision to exit our
commercial services business in Spain, and this business is now
held for sale, with the expectation to sell the business within
twelve months. In accordance with SFAS 144 (Note 1), the net
assets, results of operations and cash flows of the Spain commer-
cial business for 2002 have been classified as “discontinued oper-
ations.” For 2002, revenues for this business totaled $9.1 million
and pre-tax losses (after minority interest and before estimated
loss on disposal) were $6.5 million. The estimated loss on disposal
recorded in the third quarter of 2002 totaled $9.0 million after 
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minority interest, or $0.07 per share. Prior year results were not
material and have not been reclassified to discontinued operations.

On July 7, 2001, we completed the spin-off of our Payment
Services business segment (Certegy Inc. or Certegy) through a 
tax-free dividend of all of our Certegy stock to our shareholders.
Shareholders received a dividend of one share of Certegy stock for
each two shares of Equifax stock owned. This non-cash dividend
totaled $233.9 million. Also in connection with the spin-off, we
reduced debt by $275.0 million in July 2001 following Certegy’s
cash dividend of that amount to us.

As a result of the spin-off, our financial statements have been
prepared with Certegy’s net assets, results of operations, and cash
flows classified as “discontinued operations.” All historical state-
ments have been restated to conform with this presentation. Also
as a result of the spin-off, during the second quarter of 2001 we
recorded an expense of $36.5 million ($28.4 million after tax, or
$0.21 per share) to accrue the costs associated with effecting the
spin-off. These costs include fees for investment bankers, legal
and accounting services, duplicate software licenses, and various
other directly related expenses. This expense has been included as
a component of discontinued operations in the accompanying
statements of income and cash flows. In 2002, charges to this
reserve totaled $2.3 million, and the remaining reserve of $0.7 mil-
lion at December 31, 2002, which represents known costs we expect
to incur within the foreseeable future, is included in other current
liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Summarized financial information for the discontinued Certegy
operation is as follows:

(In millions) 2001 2000
Revenue $398.3 $776.7
Income before income taxes 56.0 137.1
Net Income $ 33.6 $ 86.9

3.
A C Q U I S I T I O N S

In 2002, we acquired the credit files, contractual right to territories
(generally states of integration areas), and customer relationships
and related businesses of eight independent credit reporting
agencies that house their consumer information on our system
(“Affiliates”) located in the United States and three Affiliates in
Canada to continue to grow our credit data franchise. The con-
sumer credit files, contractual right to territories (generally states
of integration areas), and customer relationships of the largest of
these Affiliates, CBC Companies, Inc., were acquired in November
2002 for $95.0 million. In April 2002, in conjunction with a put 

arrangement with the original owners, we completed the purchase
of the remaining 20% minority interest in our Brazilian operation,
making us the sole owners, and in June 2002 completed the pur-
chase of a small technology development company. In August
2002, to accelerate growth in our marketing services business, 
we purchased Naviant, Inc., a provider of precision marketing
services, for approximately $135.0 million. At the closing of the
Naviant, Inc. acquisition, the sellers deposited $10.0 million of the
transaction consideration into escrow. The escrow fund will be
held for 24 months following the closing date of August 15, 2002.
The escrow arrangement provides for payment to us in the event
any indemnified loss arises and is settled during the period. At the
end of the 24 months, all escrow funds will be returned to the sell-
ers with holdback for any unresolved claims. In October 2002, we
acquired outstanding shares and increased our ownership to
79.4%, from 60.0%, of our information Spanish subsidiary. These
acquisitions were accounted for as purchases and had a total
purchase price of $333.6 million. They were acquired for cash of
$328.4 million and notes payable of $5.2 million. The following
table summarizes the estimated fair value of the net assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed at the acquisition dates.

(In millions)

Current Assets $ 17.6
Property and Equipment 3.1
Other Assets 59.0
Purchased Data Files 88.8
Goodwill 175.7
Total Acquired Assets 344.2
Total Liabilities 10.6
Net Assets Acquired $333.6

The results of operations from these acquisitions have been
included in the consolidated statements of income from the dates of
acquisition. The following unaudited pro forma information has been
prepared as if these acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2001.
The information is based on the historical results of the separate
companies, and may not necessarily be indicative of the results that
could have been achieved, or of results that may occur in the future.

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2002 2001
Revenue $1,148.0 $1,178.2
Net income 182.4 98.4
Net earnings per common share (diluted) 1.32 0.72

In 2001, we acquired the credit files, customer contracts and
related businesses of five Affiliates located in the United States
and 13 Affiliates in Canada, as well as an information services
business in Uruguay. These acquisitions were accounted for 
as purchases and had a purchase price of $48.9 million. They 
were acquired for cash of $44.4 million and notes payable 
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of $4.5 million. They resulted in $20.5 million of goodwill and 
$27.2 million of purchased data files. Their results of operations
have been included in the consolidated statements of income from
their respective dates of acquisition and were not material.

Goodwill related to acquisitions was allocated to our reporting
segments as follows:

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2002 2001 2000
Equifax North America $145.5 $13.2 $195.5
Equifax Europe 2.6 – 15.4
Equifax Latin America 27.6 7.3 7.2
Total $175.7 $20.5 $218.1

During 2000, we acquired or increased our ownership in the
following businesses:

Month Industry Percentage
Business Acquired Segment Ownership
Organizacion Veraz S.A. 

(Argentina) December Latin America 79.5%(1)

SEK S.r.l. and AIF Gruppo 
Securitas S.r.l. (Italy) November Europe 100.0%

Compliance Data 
Center, Inc. October North America 100.0%

Consumer Information 
Solutions (CIS) Group 
of R.L. Polk & Co. May North America 100.0%

Propago, S.A. (Chile) January Latin America 100.0%

(1) Increased to 79.5% from 66.7% acquired in 1997 and 1994

In 2000, in addition to the businesses above, we acquired the
credit files, customer contracts, and related business, of 12 Affil-
iates located in the United States and 14 Affiliates in Canada. All
of the 2000 acquisitions were accounted for as purchases and had
an aggregate purchase price of $348.4 million. They were purchased
with a combination of cash totaling $334.8 million, the re-issuance
of treasury stock with a fair market value of $10.6 million, and
notes payable of $3.0 million. The estimated fair value of the net
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the acquisition
dates are summarized in the following table:

(In millions)

Current Assets $ 43.0
Property and Equipment 11.0
Other Assets 17.3
Purchased Data Files 78.8
Goodwill 218.1
Total Acquired Assets 368.2
Total Liabilities 19.8
Net Assets Acquired $348.4

The results of operations from these acquisitions have been
included in our consolidated statements of income from the dates
of acquisition. The following unaudited pro forma information has
been prepared as if these acquisitions had occurred on January 1,
2000. The information is based on the historical results of the
separate companies, and may not necessarily be indicative of the
results that could have been achieved, or of results that may occur
in the future.

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2000 
Revenue $1,277.0
Net income 141.1
Net earnings per common share (diluted) 1.04

4.
D I V E S T I T U R E S

In October 2001, we sold our City Directory business, which had
been acquired from R.L. Polk & Co. in May 2000. The resulting pre-
tax loss of $5.8 million ($4.9 million after tax, or $0.035 per share)
was recorded in our consolidated statement of income as a charge
to other income in September 2001.

In October 2000, we sold our risk management collections busi-
nesses located in the U.S., Canada, and the United Kingdom, and
in December 2000, sold our vehicle information business in the
United Kingdom, as well as a direct marketing business in Canada
that was a small component of the CIS group acquired earlier in
the year from R.L. Polk & Co. Proceeds from these sales included
cash of $149.2 million (net of cash sold) and a $41.0 million note
receivable from one of the buyers (repaid to us in 2002), and
resulted in a pre-tax loss of $4.2 million recorded in other income.
Approximately $25.5 million of the proceeds received in the U.S.
and Canadian risk management sales related to exclusive con-
tracts to provide the buyers with credit information products and
services over several years, and was recorded in current and long-
term deferred revenue. In conjunction with the sale of our risk
management collections business in the United Kingdom, we guar-
anteed approximately $60.0 million of the buyer’s third-party
acquisition financing which related to a portfolio of purchased
paper. Since this purchased paper financing was entirely guaran-
teed by us, the amount guaranteed has been recorded in other
assets and other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consoli-
dated balance sheets. These corresponding asset and liability
balances will be reduced as the buyer makes principal payments
on their loan and our guarantee is reduced. The balances totaled
$1.7 million, $31.2 million, and $59.1 million at December 31,
2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.
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5.
R E S T R U C T U R I N G  A N D  I M P A I R M E N T  C H A R G E S

In the fourth quarter of 2001, we recorded restructuring
and impairment charges (discussed below) of $60.4 million
($35.3 million after tax, or $0.25 per share).

Due to changes in market conditions and our technology strategy,
we recorded an impairment charge in the fourth quarter of 2001 
of $23.2 million to write down certain technology investments,
including $6.9 million of investments in several third-party 
technology companies.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, we initiated a restructuring plan to
align our cost structure with changing market conditions, reduce
expenses and improve efficiencies, particularly in international
operations. The plan included headcount reductions of approxi-
mately 700 employees, primarily located in our international oper-
ations. The restructuring charge for the year ended 2001 totaled
$37.2 million, and consisted of severance costs associated with
headcount reductions and other related costs, including reserves
to reflect our estimated exposure on facilities to be vacated or
consolidated. Charges to the restructuring reserve totaled 
$12.1 million in 2002 and $8.8 million in 2001, and the remaining
reserve of $16.3 million at December 31, 2002 is included in other
current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
During the fourth quarter of 2002, based on revised estimates, we
determined that the severance portion of the reserve was inade-
quate and that the facilities and other portion of the reserve was
excessive and made an adjustment of $1.6 million to each reserve
with no effect to net income. The majority of the remaining sev-
erance and related charges are expected to be paid in 2003, with
charges related to real estate rental obligations being paid over
the next several years. An analysis of activity in the reserve for
2001 and 2002 is as follows (in millions):

Facilities
Severance and Other Total

Original reserve, 
fourth quarter, 2001 $12.0 $25.2 $37.2

Less 2001 charges (3.6) (5.2) (8.8)
Balance, December 31, 2001 8.4 20.0 28.4

Less 2002 charges (8.4) (3.7) (12.1)
Adjustment 1.6 (1.6) – 

Balance, December 31, 2002 $ 1.6 $14.7 $16.3 

6.
L O N G - T E R M  D E B T  A N D  S H O R T- T E R M  B O R R O W I N G S

Long-term debt at December 31, 2002 and 2001 was as follows:

(In millions) 2002 2001
Senior Notes, 6.5%, due 2003, net of 

unamortized discount of $0.1 million 
in 2002 and $0.2 million in 2001 $199.9 $199.8

Notes, 6.3%, due 2005, net of 
unamortized discount of $0.4 million 
in 2002 and $0.6 million in 2001 249.6 249.4

Notes, 4.95%, due 2007, net of 
unamortized discount of $0.5 million 
in 2002 249.5 –

Debentures, 6.9%, due 2028, net of 
unamortized discount of $1.3 million 
in 2002 and $1.3 million in 2001 148.7 148.7

Borrowings under revolving credit 
facilities,weighted average rate 
of 2.6% at December 31, 2002 21.8 90.9

Other 22.4 8.7
891.9 697.5

Less current maturities 201.3 3.9
$690.6 $693.6

In October 2002, we issued new 4.95% fixed rate five-year senior
unsecured notes with a face value of $250.0 million. The notes,
which expire in 2007, were sold at a discount of $0.5 million. The
discount, and related issuance costs, will be amortized on a
straight-line basis over the term of the notes. Our $200.0 million
6.5% senior unsecured notes, originally issued in 1993, mature
during June 2003, and therefore appear in the short-term debt and
current maturities category on our December 31, 2002 balance
sheet. The indebtedness evidenced by our 4.95% senior unsecured
notes, our 6.5% senior unsecured notes, our 6.3% notes, and our
6.9% senior unsecured debentures, none of which has been guar-
anteed by any of our subsidiaries, is unsecured, and ranks on parity
in right of payment with all of our other unsecured and unsubor-
dinated indebtedness from time to time outstanding.

In October 2001, we replaced our $750.0 million revolving credit
facility with a new, committed $465.0 million revolving credit facil-
ity with a group of commercial and investment banks. This facility
is comprised of a $160.0 million, 364-day portion and a $305.0 mil-
lion, multi-year portion. The 364-day portion matures October 2,
2003. The multi-year portion expires October 4, 2004. The agree-
ment provides for borrowings tied to Base Rate, LIBOR and com-
petitive bid interest rate options and contains certain financial
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covenants related to interest coverage, funded debt to cash flow,
and limitations on subsidiary indebtedness. Our borrowings under
this facility, which have not been guaranteed by any of our sub-
sidiaries, are unsecured and will rank on parity in right of payment
with all of our other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness
from time to time outstanding. At December 31, 2002, $11.8 mil-
lion of the revolving credit facility’s outstanding balance was
denominated in a foreign currency. This foreign denominated
obligation is used to hedge the impact of foreign exchange rate
fluctuations related to inter-company advances with one of our
foreign subsidiaries.

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt during the five years
subsequent to December 31, 2002, are as follows:

(In millions) Amount 
2003 $201.3
2004 23.8
2005 249.6
2006 –
2007 249.8

Our short-term borrowings at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
totaled $32.6 million and $58.1 million, respectively, and consisted
primarily of notes payable to banks. These notes had a weighted-
average interest rate of 3.24% at December 31, 2002 and 3.30% 
at December 31, 2001. In October 2001, one of our Canadian sub-
sidiaries entered into a C$100.0 million loan, renewable annually,
with a bank. The loan agreement provides interest rate options
tied to Prime, Base Rate, LIBOR, and Canadian Banker’s Accept-
ances, and contains financial covenants related to interest cov-
erage, funded debt to cash flow, and limitations on subsidiary
indebtedness. Our subsidiary’s borrowings under this facility,
which we have guaranteed, are unsecured. Borrowings under this
loan (which are included in the short-term borrowings totals
above) at December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $29.3 million and
$47.7 million, respectively.

7.
I N C O M E  T A X E S

We record deferred income taxes using enacted tax laws and rates
for the years in which the taxes are expected to be paid. Deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the differ-
ences between the financial reporting and income tax bases of
assets and liabilities.

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations consists
of the following:

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Current:

Federal $ 71.9 $65.7 $ 60.6
State 10.0 8.4 2.9
Foreign 20.6 5.7 25.6

102.5 79.8 89.1
Deferred:

Federal 23.3 5.7 10.8
State (1.9) (2.5) 2.2
Foreign (0.3) 2.3 6.2

21.1 5.5 19.2
$123.6 $85.3 $108.3

Domestic and foreign income from continuing operations before
income taxes was as follows:

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
United States $264.5 $197.6 $216.3
Foreign 50.4 5.0 33.1

$314.9 $202.6 $249.4

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations is rec-
onciled with the federal statutory rate, as follows:

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Provision computed at federal 
statutory rate $110.2 $70.9 $ 87.3

State and local taxes, net of 
federal tax benefit 5.0 3.8 3.3

Nondeductible goodwill (including 
amounts related to divestitures) – 6.7 8.8

Foreign (8.8) 1.3 4.0
Valuation allowance 21.1 – – 
Other (3.9) 2.6 4.9

$123.6 $85.3 $108.3
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Components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities at
December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

(In millions) 2002 2001
Deferred income tax assets:

Reserves and accrued expenses $ – $ 30.0
Postretirement benefits 70.2 10.0
Employee compensation programs 11.5 9.9
Deferred revenue 6.9 4.7
Depreciation 6.2 –
Net operating loss carryforwards 
of subsidiaries 42.3 9.9

Foreign tax credits 22.2 41.5
Valuation allowance (52.7) (21.6)
Other 5.0 4.6

111.6 89.0
Deferred income tax liabilities:

Reserves and accrued expenses (2.4) –
Data files and other assets (44.6) (54.4)
Depreciation – (0.5)
Pension expense (47.2) (40.8)
Undistributed earnings of 

foreign subsidiaries (11.7) (36.3)
Other (10.7) (19.2)

(116.6) (151.2)
Net deferred income tax liability $ (5.0) $ (62.2)

Our deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 31,
2002 and 2001, are included in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets as follows:

(In millions) 2002 2001
Deferred income tax assets $20.9 $ 26.4
Deferred income tax liabilities (25.9) (88.6)
Net deferred income tax liability $ (5.0) $(62.2)

Accumulated undistributed retained earnings of Canadian sub-
sidiaries amounted to approximately $51.9 million at December 31,
2002. No provision for Canadian withholding taxes or United States
federal income taxes is made on these earnings, because they are
considered by management to be permanently invested in those
subsidiaries and, under the tax laws, are not subject to such taxes
until distributed as dividends. If the earnings were not considered
permanently invested, approximately $2.6 million of deferred
income taxes would have been provided. Such taxes, if ultimately
paid, may be recoverable as foreign tax credits in the United States.

As of December 31, 2002, we have a deferred tax asset of 
$78.6 million related to accumulated foreign currency translation

loss for foreign locations, excluding Canada. A full valuation
allowance, included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, 
has been provided due to uncertainty of future realization of this
deferred tax asset.

At December 31, 2002, we had net operating loss and capital loss
carryforwards of approximately $125.7 million of which $61.2 mil-
lion related to U.S. federal and $64.5 million to foreign jurisdic-
tions. Of the total net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards,
$39.1 million has no expiration date, $32.7 million will expire in
2006 and $53.9 million will begin to expire at various times begin-
ning in 2012. The U.S. federal loss carryforward may be subject to
certain limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended. Additionally, we had foreign tax credit carry-
forwards of approximately $22.2 million of which $13 million will
begin to expire in 2005 and the remaining $9.2 million will be uti-
lized upon repatriation of foreign earnings. Tax effected net oper-
ating loss, capital loss and foreign tax credit carryforwards of
$52.7 million have been fully reserved in the deferred tax valuation
allowance due to the uncertainty resulting from a lack of previous
foreign taxable income within certain foreign tax jurisdictions,
uncertainty that sufficient capital gains will be generated and 
U.S. federal limitations under Section 382.

A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
We increased the valuation allowance by $31.1 million in 2002 for
capital loss carryovers and net operating loss carryforwards relat-
ing to Naviant, Spain, the United Kingdom and other entities.

8.
S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y

Rights Plan In 1995, our Board of Directors adopted a Shareholders
Rights Plan. Our Rights Plan contains provisions to protect our share-
holders in the event of an unsolicited offer to acquire us, including
offers that do not treat all shareholders equally, the acquisition in
the open market of shares constituting control without offering fair
value to all shareholders, and other coercive, unfair or inadequate
takeover bids and practices that could impair the ability of our
Board to represent shareholders’ interests fully. Pursuant to the
Rights Plan, our Board declared a dividend of one Share Purchase
Right for each outstanding share of our common stock, with distri-
bution to be made to shareholders of record as of November 24,
1995. The Rights, which will expire in November 2005, initially will
be represented by, and traded together with, our common stock.
The Rights are not currently exercisable and do not become exer-
cisable unless certain triggering events occur. 
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Among the triggering events is the acquisition of 20% or more of
our common stock by a person or group of affiliated or associated
persons. Unless previously redeemed, upon the occurrence of one
of the specified triggering events, each Right that is not held by the
20% or more shareholder will entitle its holder to purchase one
share of common stock or, under certain circumstances, additional
shares of common stock at a discounted price.

Treasury Stock and Employee Benefits Trusts During 2002,
2001, and 2000, we repurchased 2.9 million, 2.2 million, and 
0.3 million of our own common shares through open market trans-
actions at an aggregate investment of $72.5 million, $49.5 million,
and $6.5 million, respectively. At its February 2002 meeting, our
Board of Directors authorized an additional $250.0 million in share
repurchases. At December 31, 2002, approximately $222.2 million
remained available for future purchases from prior authorizations
of our Board of Directors.

In 1993, we established the Equifax Inc. Employee Stock Benefits
Trust to fund various employee benefit plans and compensation
programs and transferred 6.2 million treasury shares to the Trust.
In 1994 and 2000, we transferred 0.6 million and 1.5 million trea-
sury shares, respectively, to two other employee benefits trusts.
Shares held by the trusts are not considered outstanding for earn-
ings per share calculations until released to the employee benefit

plans or programs. During 2002, 2001, and 2000, 752,178 shares,
48,593 shares and 39,830 shares, respectively, were used for
various employee incentive and stock option programs.

Stock Options Our shareholders have approved several stock
option plans which provide that qualified and nonqualified options
may be granted to officers and employees. Our Board of Directors
has also approved a nonqualified stock option plan that cannot be
used to grant shares to directors or executive officers. In addition,
options remain outstanding under two plans from which no new
grants may be made, one which was approved by shareholders. 
All plans require that options be granted at exercise prices not 
less than market value on the date of grant. Generally, options vest
over periods of up to four years and are exercisable for ten years
from grant date. Certain of the plans also provide for awards of
restricted shares of our common stock. At December 31, 2002,
there were 4.5 million shares available for future option grants 
and restricted stock awards.

The number of options outstanding and their exercise prices were
adjusted in July 2001 pursuant to a formula as a result of the spin-
off of Certegy. The adjustment increased the number of options
outstanding in 2001 by approximately 2.1 million shares. A sum-
mary of changes in outstanding options and the related weighted-
average exercise price per share is shown in the following table:

54

2002 2001 2000
Average Average Average

(Shares in thousands) Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Balance, beginning of year 10,909 $16.37 9,698 $25.22 10,563 $24.14

Adjustment due to spin-off – – 2,055 – – –
Granted (all at market price) 2,388 25.06 2,680 28.27 1,841 22.39
Canceled (414) 18.41 (1,171) 22.25 (924) 28.75
Exercised (2,314) 15.31 (2,353) 16.91 (1,782) 13.70

Balance, end of year 10,569 18.48 10,909 16.37 9,698 25.22
Exercisable at end of year 8,232 $17.59 7,743 $15.66 6,069 $22.13

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2002 (shares in thousands):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-Average Remaining Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Range of Exercise Prices Shares Contractual Life in Years Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
$5.14 to $14.47 3,410 5.3 $12.22 3,310 $12.21
$14.58 to $19.35 2,692 6.9 17.13 2,012 17.16
$19.39 to $25.50 4,176 7.5 23.76 2,650 23.56
$25.75 to $37.25 291 5.0 28.55 260 28.63

10,569 6.6 18.48 8,232 $17.59
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Long-Term Incentive Plans We have key management long-
term incentive plans for certain key officers that provide for cash
awards at the end of various measurement periods based on the
growth in earnings per share and/or various other criteria over the
measurement period. For certain awards, the employee may elect
to receive some or all of their distribution as an equity interest.

Expense for these plans can vary between years due to revisions 
of estimates of future distributions under the plans, which are
based on the likelihood that the performance criteria will be met.
The total expense under these plans was $1.6 million in 2002, and 
$4.5 million in 2001, and a credit to expense of $3.1 million in 2000.

9.
E M P L O Y E E  B E N E F I T S

In 1998, we adopted SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures 
about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits.” This state-
ment revises employers’ disclosures about pension and other
postretirement benefit plans. It does not change the measurement
or recognition of these plans.

Pension Benefits Pension benefits are provided through U.S.
and Canadian defined benefit pension plans and a supplemental
executive defined benefit pension plan.

U.S. and Canadian Retirement Plans: We have a non-contributory
qualified retirement plan covering most U.S. salaried employees
and maintain a defined benefit plan for most salaried employees 
in Canada. Benefits are primarily a function of salary and years 
of service.

Supplemental Retirement Plan: We maintain a supplemental
executive retirement program for certain key employees. The plan,
which is unfunded, provides supplemental retirement payments
based on salary and years of service.

Other Benefits We maintain certain health care and life insur-
ance benefit plans for eligible retired employees. Substantially all
of our U.S. employees may become eligible for these benefits if
they reach retirement age while working for us and satisfy certain
years of service requirements. We accrue the cost of providing
these benefits over the active service period of the employee.
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A reconciliation of the benefit obligations, plan assets, and funded status of the plans are as follows (in millions):

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
Change in benefit obligation 2002 2001 2002 2001
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $442.6 $422.1 $23.1 $ 22.5
Service cost 4.8 5.8 0.7 0.7
Interest cost 30.8 31.9 1.6 1.6
Actuarial loss 32.7 48.5 4.8 2.0
Plan amendments 0.7 – – –
Foreign currency exchange 0.3 (1.5) – –
Curtailments – (1.5) – –
Spin-off of Certegy – (27.3) – (1.8)
Settlements – (0.3) – –
Benefits paid (34.7) (35.1) (2.2) (1.9)
Benefit obligation at end of year $477.2 $442.6 $28.0 $ 23.1

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
Change in plan assets 2002 2001 2002 2001
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $446.3 $549.2 $ 0.0 $ 0.2
Actual return on plan assets (55.7) (33.0) (0.5) –
Employer contribution 19.2 12.3 4.0 –
Foreign currency exchange 0.4 (2.1) – –
Spin-off of Certegy – (45.0) – –
Benefits paid (34.7) (35.1) – (0.2)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $375.5 $446.3 $ 3.5 $ –
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Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2002 2001 2002 2001

Funded status $(101.7) $ 3.7 $(24.5) $(23.1)
Unrecognized actuarial loss 210.5 75.0 8.0 2.3
Unrecognized prior service cost 0.9 0.2 (0.4) (0.6)
Net amount recognized $ 109.7 $ 78.9 $(16.9) $(21.4)

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position consist of: 2002 2001 2002 2001
Prepaid benefit cost $ 13.3 $ 97.3 $   – $ –
Accrued benefit liability (91.6) (26.3) (16.9) (21.4)
Intangible asset 0.8 0.1 – –
Accumulated other comprehensive income 187.2 7.8 – –
Net amount recognized $ 109.7 $ 78.9 $(16.9) $(21.4)

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
Weighted-average assumptions as of December 31 2002 2001 2002 2001
Discount rate 6.75% 7.25% 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on plan assets 9.50% 9.50% 9.50% 5.00%
Rate of compensation increase 4.25% 4.25% N/A N/A

For measurement purposes, a 9 percent annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for
2003. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5 percent for 2007 and remain at that level thereafter.

Net pension (income) expense for the plans include the following (income) expense components:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(In millions) 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
Service cost $ 4.8 $ 5.8 $ 5.9 $0.7 $0.7 $0.8
Interest cost 30.8 31.9 32.8 1.6 1.6 1.6
Expected return on plan assets (47.3) (47.1) (46.3) (0.4) – –
Amortization of initial unrecognized net (asset) – 0.1 (0.1) – – –
Amortization of prior service cost – 0.3 0.7 (0.2) (0.5) (1.0)
Recognized actuarial loss 0.2 0.1 0.4 – – –
Curtailment gain – – (1.3) – – (0.8)
Settlement gain – 0.3 – – – –
Net pension income $(11.5) $(8.6) $(7.9) $1.7 $1.8 $0.6
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Assumed health care cost trend rates have an effect on the
amounts reported for the health care plan. A one-percentage-point
change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the
following effects:

1-Percentage-Point 1-Percentage-Point
Increase Decrease

Effect on total of service 
cost and interest cost 
components $0.1 $(0.1)

Effect on postretirement 
benefit obligation $0.7 (0.7)

The discount rate used to calculate the U.S. Retirement Plan
funded status was decreased from 7.25% for year-end 2001 
to 6.75% for year-end 2002. The effect of this change was an
increase in year-end 2002 benefit obligation (and reduction in
funded status) of $22.3 million.

The discount rate used to calculate U.S. Retirement Plan pension
income was decreased from 8.00% for 2001 to 7.25% for 2002.
The effect of this change was a decrease in 2002 income of 
$0.1 million.

For calculating pension income, a market-related value of assets is
used. The market-related value of assets recognizes the difference
between actual returns and expected returns over five years at a
rate of 20% per year.

The net pension income shown above includes income amounts
allocated to discontinued operations of $0, $2.1 million, and 
$3.3 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. The 2000 cur-
tailment gains of $1.3 million (pension benefits) and $0.8 million
(other benefits) related to the sale of the U.S. risk management
collections business (Note 4), and was included as a component 
of the loss on sale of businesses recorded in other income.

The U.S. Retirement Plan and the Supplemental Retirement Plan
both have accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets
as of December 31, 2002. The aggregate projected benefit obliga-
tion, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets
(in millions) for these two plans are $451.2, $436.4, and $344.8,
respectively, as of December 31, 2002, and $419.0, $408.1, and
$413.1, respectively, as of December 31, 2001.

During 2002, actual asset returns for the pension plans were
adversely impacted by further deterioration in the equity markets.
The S&P 500 has declined 22% and 12% in 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. Our actual return on pension plan assets in 2002 was a neg-
ative 12.8%. Also in 2002, corporate bond yields, which we use 
in determining our discount rate for future pension obligations,
continued to decline. The 2002 asset returns and lower discount
rates negatively impacted the funded status of our pension plans
requiring us to recognize a minimum pension liability. The liability
was recorded as a non-cash $112.4 million after-tax reduction to
Shareholder’s equity as part of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss). This equity reduction did not impact our net income
or cash flow in 2002 and has no impact on compliance with 
debt covenants.

While the asset return and interest rate environment have nega-
tively impacted the funded status of our plans, we do not currently
have minimum funding requirements, as set forth in the Employment
Retirement Income Security Act and federal tax laws. Although 
no minimum funding was required, we voluntarily contributed
$20.0 million to our U.S. retirement plan in 2002.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the plan’s assets included 1.76 mil-
lion shares of the Company’s common stock with a market value of
approximately $40.9 million and $42.6 million, respectively.

Foreign Retirement Plans We also maintain defined contri-
bution plans for certain employees in the United Kingdom. For the
year ended December 31, 2002 our expenses related to these
plans were $1.2 million.

Employee Retirement Savings Plans Our retirement savings
plans provide for annual contributions, within specified ranges,
determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors for the bene-
fit of eligible employees in the form of cash or shares of common
stock. Employees may sell their stock, including shares contributed
as the Company match, at any time. Expense for these plans was
$3.0 million in 2002, $2.5 million in 2001, and $2.4 million in 2000.
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10.
C O M M I T M E N T S  A N D  C O N T I N G E N C I E S

Leases Our operating leases involve principally office space and
office equipment. Under the terms of the operating lease for our
headquarters building in Atlanta, Georgia, which commenced in
1998, we have guaranteed a portion of the residual value of the
building at the end of the lease in 2010. The maximum exposure
under the guarantee is approximately $23.2 million. We believe
the fair market value of this property exceeds the amount of 
the guarantee.

Rental expense related to our operating leases was $22.0 million
in 2002, $23.8 million in 2001, and $28.4 million in 2000. Our head-
quarters building operating lease has ground purchase options
exercisable beginning in 2019, ground renewal options exercis-
able in 2048, and escalation clauses of $50,000 beginning in 2009. 
Our technology center in Alpharetta, Georgia has rent escalations
of approximately $4.0 million over the next five years, termination
options exercisable beginning in 2003, and renewal options through
2039. Future minimum payment obligations for noncancelable
operating leases exceeding one year are as follows as of
December 31, 2002:

(In millions) Amount 
2003 $ 23.3
2004 18.7
2005 15.7
2006 13.0
2007 11.3
Thereafter 74.0

$156.0

Agreement with Computer Sciences Corporation We have
an agreement with Computer Sciences Corporation and certain of
its affiliates, collectively, CSC, under which CSC-owned credit
reporting agencies utilize our computerized credit database serv-
ices. CSC retains ownership of its credit files and the revenues
generated by its credit reporting activity. We receive a processing
fee for maintaining the database and for each report supplied. The
agreement was renewed by CSC for a ten-year period beginning
August 1, 1998. The agreement provides us with an option to pur-
chase CSC’s credit reporting business if CSC does not elect to
renew the agreement or if there is a change in control of CSC while
the agreement is in effect. Under the agreement CSC also has an
option, exercisable at any time, to sell its credit reporting business
to us. The option expires in 2013. The option exercise price will be

determined by a third-party appraisal process and would be due in
cash within 180 days after the exercise of the option. We estimate
that if the option were exercised at this time, the price range
would approximate $650.0 – $700.0 million. This estimate is based
solely on our internal analysis of the value of the businesses, cur-
rent market conditions, and other factors, all of which are subject
to constant change. Therefore, the actual option exercise price
could be materially higher or lower than the estimated amount. 
If CSC were to exercise its option, we would have to obtain addi-
tional sources of funding. We believe that this funding would be
available from sources such as additional bank lines of credit and
the issuance of public debt and/or equity. However, the availability
and terms of any such capital financing would be subject to a num-
ber of factors, including credit market conditions, the state of the
equity markets, general economic conditions, and our financial
performance and condition.

Data Processing and Outsourcing Services Agreements
We have separate agreements with IBM, PwCES LLC, Polk/Acxiom,
Seisint Inc., Xerox Connect, Inc., and Jones-Lang LaSalle which
outsource portions of our computer data processing operations
and related functions and certain administrative functions. The
agreements expire between 2004 and 2010. The estimated aggre-
gate contractual obligation remaining under these agreements 
is $578.5 million as of December 31, 2002, with no future year
expected to exceed $115.0 million. However, these amounts could
be more or less depending on various factors such as the inflation
rate, the introduction of significant new technologies, or changes
in our servicing needs as a result of acquisitions or divestitures.
Under certain circumstances (e.g., a change in control, or for our
convenience), we may terminate these agreements. However,
some of the agreements provide that we must pay a significant
termination charge in the event of such a termination.

Change in Control Agreements We have agreements with 
15 of our officers which provide certain severance pay and benefits
in the event of a termination of the officer’s employment under
certain circumstances following a “change in control.“ “Change in
control” is defined as the accumulation by any person, entity, or
group of 20% or more of the combined voting power of our voting
stock or the occurrence of certain other specified events. In the
event of a “change in control,“ our performance share plan pro-
vides that all shares designated for future distribution will become
fully vested and payable, subject to the achievement of certain
levels of growth in earnings per share and certain other criteria. 
At December 31, 2002, the maximum contingent liability under 
the agreements and plans was approximately $22.0 million.
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Guarantees We will from time to time issue standby letters 
of credit, performance bonds or other guarantees in the normal
course of business. The aggregate notional amount of all per-
formance bonds and standby of all letters of credit is less than
$15.0 million and all have a maturity of less than one year. Guar-
antees are issued from time to time to support the needs of oper-
ating units. The only outstanding guarantee that is not reflected 
as a liability on our balance sheet was extended in connection 
with the sale of our risk management collections business to RMA
Holdings, LLC (“RMA”) in October 2000, at which time we guaran-
teed the operating lease payments of a partnership affiliated with
RMA to a lender of the partnership pursuant to a term loan. The
term loan, which had $7.9 million outstanding as of December 31,
2002, expires December 1, 2011. Our obligations under such guar-
antee are not secured. We believe the likelihood of demand for
payment under these instruments is minimal and expect no material
losses to occur in connection with these instruments.

Subsidiary Dividends and Fund Transfers The ability of certain
of our subsidiaries and associated companies to transfer funds to
us is limited by certain restrictions imposed by foreign governments,
which do not, individually or in the aggregate, materially limit our
ability to service our indebtedness, meet our current obligations, or
pay dividends.

Litigation A number of lawsuits seeking damages are brought
against us each year, primarily as a result of reports issued by us. In
2002, a class of plaintiffs was recently certified in a lawsuit,
Franklin Clark and Latanjala Denise Miller v. Equifax Inc. and
Equifax Credit Information Services, Inc., which alleges that we
violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act by failing to follow reason-
able procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy with respect
to the reporting of accounts included in a bankruptcy. All parties
have reached an agreement to settle all claims, and the court has
preliminarily approved the settlement. The suit was filed in April
2000 and is pending in federal court in South Carolina. We do not
believe the final settlement will be material to our operations or
financial condition.

In addition, in 1600 Peachtree, L.L.C. v. Equifax Inc. the Plaintiff
alleges breach of a guaranty agreement relating to our prior head-
quarters building, and seeks damages of approximately $43.0 mil-
lion, substantially all of which represents future rent contingencies.
We contend that the guaranty is void and intend to vigorously
defend the matter. A related lawsuit based on the same facts,
SouthTrust Bank f/k/a SouthTrust Bank National Association 
v. Equifax Inc., has been dismissed for lack of standing.

We are involved in other lawsuits, claims and proceedings as 
is normal in the ordinary course of our business. Any possible
adverse outcome arising from these matters is not expected to
have a material impact on or resulted operations or financial
position, either individually or in the aggregate. However, our
evaluation of the likely impact of these pending lawsuits could
change in the future.

We provide for estimated legal fees and settlements relating to
pending lawsuits. In our opinion, the ultimate resolution of these
matters will not have a materially adverse effect on our financial
position, liquidity, or results of operations.
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11.
Q U A R T E R LY  F I N A N C I A L  D A T A  ( U N A U D I T E D )

Quarterly financial data for 2002 and 2001 are as follows (in millions, except per share amounts):

2002 First Second Third Fourth
Operating revenue $259.0 $268.0 $289.7 $292.6

Operating income $ 79.3 $ 87.6 $ 89.7 $ 94.7

Income from continuing operations $ 42.0 $ 47.9 $ 49.7 $ 51.7

Net income $ 41.7 $ 47.5 $ 38.9 $ 49.9

Per Common Share (Basic):
Income from continuing operations $ 0.31 $ 0.35 $ 0.37 $ 0.38

Net income $ 0.31 $ 0.35 $ 0.29 $ 0.37

Per Common Share (Diluted):
Income from continuing operations $ 0.30 $ 0.34 $ 0.36 $ 0.38

Net income $ 0.30 $ 0.34 $ 0.28 $ 0.36

2001 First Second Third Fourth
Operating revenue before divested operations $272.5 $281.4 $274.0 $281.9
Divested operations 12.7 8.1 8.4 –
Operating revenue $285.2 $289.5 $282.4 $281.9

Operating income before divested operations, 
goodwill, and restructuring and other charges $ 75.4 $ 85.3 $ 88.2 $ 93.6

Divested operations 1.3 (2.8) (1.4) –
Goodwill amortization (6.4) (6.3) (6.3) (6.4)
Restructuring and other charges – – – (60.4)
Operating income $ 70.3 $ 76.2 $ 80.5 $ 26.8

Income from continuing operations $ 34.1 $ 38.3 $ 35.8 $ 9.1

Net income $ 48.1 $ 29.5 $ 35.8 $ 9.1

Per Common Share (Basic):
Income from continuing operations $ 0.25 $ 0.28 $ 0.26 $ 0.07

Net income $ 0.35 $ 0.22 $ 0.26 $ 0.07

Per Common Share (Diluted):
Income from continuing operations $ 0.25 $ 0.28 $ 0.26 $ 0.07

Net income $ 0.35 $ 0.21 $ 0.26 $ 0.07
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12.
S E G M E N T  I N F O R M A T I O N

Our operations are primarily organized in five reportable segments,
with three segments based on the provision of our three core prod-
uct lines (Information Services, Marketing Services, and Consumer 

Direct) within geographic regions (Equifax North America, Equifax
Europe, and Equifax Latin America), and two segments based on
other criteria (Other and Divested Operations). The accounting
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policies of the segments are the same as those described in our
summary of significant accounting and reporting policies (Note 1).
We evaluate the segment performance based on its operating
income before unusual items (if any). Intersegment sales and
transfers are not material. The measurements of segment profit or
loss and segment assets for each reportable segment are substan-
tially the same. All transactions between segments are accounted
for at cost, and no timing differences occur between segments.

The 2002 operating results of Spain’s Commercial Services busi-
ness have been reclassified to discontinued operations and are not
included in Equifax Europe’s segment results below. The 2001 and
2000 operating results for this business have not been reclassified
to discontinued operations since they were not material, and are
included in Equifax Europe’s segment results below (Note 2).

Goodwill amortization in 2001 and 2000 for all business segments
has been reclassified to a separate line to provide for comparabil-
ity with 2002.

A description of segment products and services is as follows:

Equifax North America Information Services including con-
sumer services such as credit information; credit card marketing
services; locate services; fraud detection and prevention services;

mortgage loan origination information; analytics and consulting;
identity verification services; commercial services, primarily in
Canada and Marketing Services consisting of consumer demo-
graphic and lifestyle information and Consumer Direct credit and
finance products sold directly to individuals.

Equifax Europe Information Services including Consumer and
Commercial Services such as credit, credit scoring and modeling
services and Credit Marketing Services.

Equifax Latin America Information Services including consumer
and Commercial Services such as credit and other commercial,
financial, and consumer information.

Other Lottery services relating solely to a contract to provide
services to the state of California. No further revenue or operating
income has been received since the second quarter 2002 or is
expected to occur in this segment.

Divested Operations Includes businesses divested in the fourth
quarter of 2001 and 2000 (City Directory, the risk management
collections businesses in the U.S., Canada, and the United
Kingdom, as well as the vehicle information business in the 
United Kingdom) (Note 4).
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Segment information for 2002, 2001, and 2000 is as follows (in millions):

2002 2001 2000
Operating Revenue:

Equifax North America $ 902.2 $ 852.4 $ 755.2
Equifax Europe 126.1 141.1 142.9
Equifax Latin America 76.6 106.7 119.5
Other 4.4 9.6 9.6

1,109.3 1,109.8 1,027.2
Divested Operations – 29.2 162.0

$1,109.3 $1,139.0 $1,189.2

Operating Income (Loss):
Equifax North America $ 361.6 $ 340.6 $ 295.9
Equifax Europe 12.7 5.8 17.2
Equifax Latin America 20.3 32.0 40.0
Other 4.4 8.9 8.9
General Corporate Expense (47.7) (44.8) (41.7)

351.3 342.5 320.3
Divested Operations – (2.9) 12.7
Goodwill Amortization – (25.4) (24.4)
Restructuring and Other Charges (Note 5) – (60.4) –

$ 351.3 $ 253.8 $ 308.6
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Total Assets at December 31:
Equifax North America $1,064.8 $ 825.5 $ 832.9
Equifax Europe 174.4 192.4 225.0
Equifax Latin America 161.8 190.6 251.6
Other 3.5 3.7 2.9
Corporate 94.9 210.3 213.5

1,499.4 1,422.6 1,525.9
Divested Operations – – 39.3

1,499.4 1,422.6 1,565.2
Assets of Discontinued Operations 7.5 – 504.4

$1,506.9 $1,422.6 $2,069.6

2002 2001 2000

Depreciation and Amortization:
Equifax North America $ 53.8 $ 64.4 $ 57.2
Equifax Europe 12.9 18.5 17.9
Equifax Latin America 5.4 14.4 15.7
Other – 0.8 0.8
Corporate 8.4 6.9 5.4

80.5 105.0 97.0
Divested Operations – 1.2 9.2

$ 80.5 $ 106.2 $ 106.2

2002 2001 2000

Capital Expenditures (excluding property and equipment 
and other assets acquired in acquisitions):
Equifax North America $ 42.9 $ 20.1 $ 40.3
Equifax Europe 6.2 12.3 13.8
Equifax Latin America 5.3 8.6 12.3
Other – – –
Corporate 1.4 5.5 3.9

55.8 46.5 70.3
Divested Operations – 0.6 1.6

$ 55.8 $ 47.1 $ 71.9

Financial information by geographic area is as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Amount % Amount % Amount %

Operating Revenue (based on location of customer):
United States $ 826.0 74% $ 813.8 71% $ 801.6 67%
Canada 80.4 7 77.5 7 94.6 8
United Kingdom 97.6 9 97.6 9 137.7 12
Brazil 43.4 4 49.5 4 60.9 5
Other 61.9 6 100.6 9 94.4 8

$1,109.3 100% $1,139.0 100% $1,189.2 100%
Long-Lived Assets of Continuing Operations 

at December 31:
United States $    844.1 70% $    665.2 63% $    717.1 62%
Canada 99.9 8 100.8 9 96.7 8
United Kingdom 84.0 7 78.8 7 88.2 8
Brazil 89.0 7 97.3 9 119.3 10
Other 96.8 8 122.5 12 140.2 12

$1,213.8 100% $1,064.6 100% $1,161.5 100%
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R E P O R T  O F  E R N S T  &  Y O U N G  L L P ,  
I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R S

T H E  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S  A N D  S H A R E H O L D E R S

E Q U I F A X  I N C .

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet 
of Equifax Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2002, and the
related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity
and comprehensive income and cash flows for the year then
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opin-
ion on these financial statements based on our audit. The consoli-
dated financial statements of the Company as of December 31,
2001, and for the two years then ended, were audited by other
auditors who have ceased operations and whose report dated
February 8, 2002 expressed an unqualified opinion on those state-
ments before the revisions in the consolidated statements of
shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income of the Company
for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2001,
and as described in Notes 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, and 12.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as eval-
uating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2002 financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Company at December 31, 2002, and the consoli-
dated results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States.

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
effective January 1, 2002, the Company changed its method of
accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets to conform
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

As discussed above, the consolidated financial statements of 
the Company as of December 31, 2001 and for the two years then
ended were audited by other auditors who have ceased opera-
tions. However, the Company made certain adjustments and
disclosures to the prior years’ financial statements to conform 
with the current year’s presentation or to comply with adoption
requirements of new accounting pronouncements, as follows:

(i) The consolidated statements of income of the Company for
each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2001
have been revised to separately disclose depreciation
expense, amortization expense and goodwill amortization
expense which were classified within cost of services and
selling, general and administrative expenses in the prior
years. Our audit procedures with respect to these revisions
included (a) agreeing the depreciation expense, amortization
expense and goodwill amortization expense balances to the
Company’s underlying records obtained from management,
and (b) testing the mathematical accuracy of the revisions
within the consolidated statements of income.

(ii) The consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity and com-
prehensive income of the Company for each of the two years
in the period ended December 31, 2001 have been revised to
include the income tax effect for the minimum pension liability
and cash flow hedging transactions. Our audit procedures with
respect to the income tax effects for 2001 and 2000 included
(a) agreeing the previously reported minimum pension liability
and cash flow hedging transactions before tax balances to the
previously issued financial statements, (b) re-calculating the
income tax effect for the minimum pension liability and cash
flow hedging transactions using the Company’s income tax
rate for the respective year, and (c) re-calculating the minimum
pension liability, net of tax, and the cash flow hedging transac-
tions, net of tax, balances.

(iii) As discussed in Note 1, the consolidated financial statements
of the Company as of December 31, 2001 and for each of the
two years in the period then ended have been revised to
include the disclosures required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangibles,
which was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002.
Our audit procedures with respect to the disclosures in Note 1
with respect to 2001 and 2000 included (a) agreeing the pre-
viously reported net income to the previously issued financial
statements, (b) agreeing the adjustments to reported net
income representing amortization expense (including any
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related tax effects) recognized in those periods related to
goodwill that is no longer being amortized as a result of ini-
tially applying Statement No. 142 (including any related tax
effects) to the Company’s underlying records obtained from
management, (c) agreeing all 2001 separate asset and accu-
mulated amortization balances as disclosed for individual
intangibles to the Company’s underlying accounting records
obtained from management, (d) agreeing all 2001 and 2000
amortization expense disclosures to the Company’s under-
lying accounting records obtained from management and 
(e) testing the mathematical accuracy of the reconciliation 
of pro forma net income to reported net income.

(iv) The disclosures in Note 3 of the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Company have been revised to disclose addi-
tional detail with respect to the estimated fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition dates. Our
audit procedures with respect to these additional disclosures
in Note 3 included (a) agreeing the estimated fair value of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition
dates balances to the Company’s underlying records obtained
from management, and (b) testing the mathematical accuracy
of the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed information included within the table in
Note 3.

(v) The disclosures in Note 5 of the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Company as of December 31, 2001 and for the
year then ended have been revised to disclose additional
detail with respect to severance and facilities and other
charges reserve and the related activity for 2001. Our audit
procedures with respect to these additional disclosures in
Note 5 included (a) agreeing the severance and facilities and
other charges reserve and the related activity for 2001 to the
Company’s underlying records obtained from management,
and (b) testing the mathematical accuracy of the restatement
within the table in Note 5.

(vi) The disclosures in Note 7 of the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Company as of December 31, 2001 and 2000
with respect to certain deferred tax balances have been
revised to disclose additional detail with respect to the net
operating loss carryforwards of subsidiaries, foreign tax 

credits and valuation allowance balances. Our audit proce-
dures with respect to these additional disclosures in Note 7
included (a) agreeing the net operating loss carryforwards 
of subsidiaries, foreign tax credits and valuation allowance
balances to the Company’s underlying records obtained from
management, and (b) testing the mathematical accuracy of
the revisions within the table in Note 7.

(vii) The disclosures in Note 9 of the consolidated financial
statements of the Company as of December 31, 2001 and
2000 and for each of the two years in the period then ended
with respect to employee benefit plan information have 
been revised to disclose additional detail for the Canadian
Retirement Plan, Supplemental Retirement Plan, and Other
Benefits with respect to benefit obligations, plan assets,
funded status, and amounts recognized in the statement of
financial position as of December 31, 2001 and net pension
(income) expense components for each of the two years in the
period ended December 31, 2001. Our audit procedures with
respect to these additional disclosures in Note 9 included 
(a) agreeing the benefit obligations, plan assets and funded
status as of December 31, 2001 and net pension (income)
expense components for each to the two years in the period
ended December 31, 2001 to the Company’s underlying
records obtained from management and (b) testing the
mathematical accuracy of the revisions included in the 
tables disclosed in Note 9.

In our opinion, the adjustments and disclosures with respect to the
matters discussed in the preceding paragraphs (i) through (vii) are
appropriate and have been properly applied. However, we were
not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001
and 2000 consolidated financial statements of the Company other
than with respect to such adjustments and disclosures and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of
assurance on the 2001 and 2000 consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole.

Atlanta, Georgia
January 22, 2003

64

Financial.wpc  4/14/03  7:54 AM  Page 64



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

T O  E Q U I F A X  I N C . :

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
of Equifax Inc. (a Georgia corporation) and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the related consolidated state-
ments of income, changes in shareholders’ equity and comprehen-
sive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibil-
ity is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evalu-
ating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Equifax Inc.
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2001 in conformity with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States.

/s/ Arthur Andersen LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
February 13, 2002

THIS IS A COPY OF AN ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT PREVIOUSLY
ISSUED BY ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP, AND HAS NOT BEEN 
REISSUED BY ANDERSEN. 
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CONTACTS
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E X E C U T I V E  O F F I C E R S

Thomas F. Chapman
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Mark E. Miller
President and 
Chief Operating Officer

Karen H. Gaston
Chief Administrative Officer

Donald T. Heroman
Chief Financial Officer

Kent E. Mast
Chief Development Officer
and General Counsel

Michael G. Schirk
Treasurer

Dennis B. Story
Corporate Controller

C O N T A C T S

C O R P O R A T E  O F F I C E S
Equifax Inc.
1550 Peachtree Street, N.W.
Atlanta, Georgia 30309
Telephone (404) 885-8000
www.equifax.com

S H A R E H O L D E R  R E L A T I O N S
Kathryn J. Harris
Office of the Corporate Secretary
corpsec@equifax.com

I N V E S T O R  R E L A T I O N S
Jeffrey L. Dodge
investor@equifax.com

P U B L I C  R E L A T I O N S
Mitchell J. Haws
pr@equifax.com

T R A N S F E R  A G E N T  A N D  R E G I S T R A R
SunTrust Bank
Stock Transfer Department
P.O. Box 4625
Atlanta, Georgia 30302
Telephone (800) 568-3476

A U D I T O R S
Ernst & Young LLP
600 Peachtree Street
Suite 2800
Atlanta, Georgia 30308-2215
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A  L O O K  A T  E Q U I F A X

The Business

Equifax Information Services provides value-added
information solutions that help customers grow their
businesses, increase profitability, manage risk and
reduce costs throughout their customers’ lifecycles.

Equifax is a leading source of consumer and
commercial financial information in the United
States, Canada, England, Ireland, Italy, Spain,
Portugal, Argentina, Brazil, Chile, El Salvador, 
Peru and Uruguay.

Scope of Services

• Consumer Credit Reporting – helps consumer
credit grantors make better decisions by giving
them access to a comprehensive database of
consumer credit information.

• Commercial Credit Reporting – helps commer-
cial credit grantors make better decisions by
giving them access to commercial credit informa-
tion. In the United States we have developed the
first and one of the largest databases of small
business credit information.

• Fraud Detection and I.D. Verification – help
customers quickly assess fraud potential, detect
and respond to fraud attempts and verify iden-
tities to reduce exposure and losses.

• Portfolio Management – helps customers grow
their portfolios, manage risk and optimize the
revenue potential and profitability of their
customer relationships.

• Risk Assessment and Decisioning – help enable
customers to make real-time, informed decisions
at all of their customers’ touch points, minimizing
risk and increasing profitability.

• Modeling and Analytics – help customers
leverage sophisticated data sciences and
analytical methods, providing powerful informa-
tion intelligence to improve decision-making in
managing their customer base.

• Locate Services and Debt Recovery – help
customers with their collection activities by
locating debtors, improving recovery rates and
reducing write-offs.

• Industry-specific Proprietary Databases – help
customers make informed decisions through the
use of our managed and maintained proprietary
databases.

• Bankruptcy Solutions – help customers reduce
bankruptcy risk, manage the effect of bankruptcy
on their portfolios and increase recovery rates.

Markets Served

• Financial
• Retail 
• Telecommunications
• Utilities
• Mortgage 
• Brokerage
• Government
• Automotive
• Insurance
• Healthcare

INFORMATION SERVICES

The Business

Equifax Marketing Services offers multichannel
marketing opportunities for customers. Services
include direct marketing as well as eMarketing
and prescreening services designed to acquire,
retain, manage and grow a customer base.

Naviant, acquired late last year, is the leading
provider of email permission marketing solutions,
with a database containing more than 100 million
opt-in email addresses – the industry’s largest.

Scope of Services

• Demographic Information – allows targeting of
consumers based on criteria such as marital
status, home ownership and presence of chil-
dren in the household.

• Lifestyle Data – allows targeting of consumers
based on their interests.

• Postal and Email Addresses – provides con-
sumers’ physical and electronic addresses. 

• Address Append Services – adds email or
postal addresses to a customer base.

• Customized and General Database Services –
includes data enhancement, list cleansing/
address updating, and installations of Equifax
databases at a client’s location.

• Credit Prescreening – delivers prescreened lists
of consumer names that meet customer criteria
for preapproved credit offers in decision-
making processes.

• Custom Modeling and Analytics – permit busi-
nesses to fully leverage the power of Equifax
data in decision-making processes.

• Management of Product Registration Programs –
allow manufacturers to capture self-reported
data on their product buyers.

• Lead Development and eSurvey – allows for
instant response on direct marketing cam-
paigns, lower marketing costs and increased
return on investment.

Markets Served

Any company seeking to build its U.S. customer
base through direct marketing, including:

• Publishing

• Pharmaceutical

• Catalog

• Entertainment and Media

• Technology

• Travel

• Retail

• Financial Institutions

MARKETING SERVICES

The Business

Equifax Consumer Direct provides individuals
access, via the Internet, to their personal credit
information in order to enlighten, enable and
empower themselves to understand, manage and
protect their information for good financial health.

Scope of Services

• Credit Report – enables a consumer to view his
or her credit report to understand what the
report contains.

• Credit and Insurance Scores – help consumers
understand how they are evaluated by lenders
and insurers. A score is a rating index used by
creditors, lenders and insurers to make lending
and insurance decisions. Credit scores help
consumers plan for obtaining credit for major
purchases or securing the best interest rates on
loans. A good insurance score, based on the
consumer’s Equifax Credit ReportTM, may help the
consumer reduce insurance premiums over time.

• Identity Protection – enables consumers who
are subscribers to receive alerts about inquiries
or changes to their credit file, which may be an
indication of fraud or identity theft.

Markets Served

• More than 220 million credit-active consumers
in the United States and Canada

• Website Link Partners

• Private Label Distributors

CONSUMER DIRECT

FRAUD, SAFETY & SECURITY An Emerging Growth Initiative

The Equifax Fraud, Safety and Security initiative
provides businesses and governments with solu-
tions to help acquire, manage and distribute
information about high-risk individuals and enti-
ties, as well as aids in the prevention of further
terrorist activity across the globe by providing
agencies with risk-relevant information. 

Equifax also provides solutions to help customers 
meet regulatory compliance requirements, uncover
money-laundering risks and identify and prevent
terrorist financing.

Scope of Services

• I.D. Verification and Fraud Detection – help
customers verify identities online and offline
and improve fraud detection rates while
streamlining compliance processes.

• Customer Models (risk, fraud and identity) –
help customers obtain real-time identity verifi-
cation, determine applicants that present a
high risk of fraud, rank risk potential, and facil-
itate due diligence activities.

• OFAC Screening – helps customers screen
high-risk individuals and transactions against
the most current Office of Foreign Assets
Control (OFAC) list and other lists with 
real-time alerts.

• Global Regulatory Information Database
(GRIDSM) – helps customers identify high-risk
individuals against a warehouse of numerous
data sources compiled from extensive public
sources worldwide.

Markets Served

• Financial Services Companies (banks, 
credit unions and credit card companies) 

• Insurance Companies

• Brokerage and Asset Management Firms

• Government Agencies

• Cargo Companies

• Transportation Companies

We enlighten, enable and empower
consumers to better manage their
financial health.

We provide solutions that help
our customers identify high-risk
individuals and entities.

We help our clients 
grow their businesses to
increase profitability.

We enable customers to manage
risk and reduce costs.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Equifax began operations in 1899 and became a publicly owned
corporation in 1965. Equifax common stock is listed on the New
York Stock Exchange under the symbol EFX. As of December 31,
2002, Equifax has approximately 9,504 shareholders of record.

D I V I D E N D S  
Cash dividends have been paid by Equifax for 90 consecutive
years. In the third quarter of 2001, the dividend was reduced due
to the spin-off of Certegy. In 2002, investors were paid dividends
of .08 cents per share. In most cases, shareholders of record
receive cash dividends quarterly on specific payable dates.

D I V I D E N D S  P E R  S H A R E
Quarter 2002 2001
First $0.020 $0.093
Second $0.020 $0.093
Third $0.020 $0.020
Fourth $0.020 $0.020
Year $0.080 $0.225

I N V E S T O R S ’  S E R V I C E  P L A N
The Investors’ Service Plan provides shareholders and other
investors with a convenient and economical way to purchase shares
of Equifax common stock directly through the Plan. Current share-
holders may purchase additional shares and non-shareholders may
make initial investments through the Plan Administrator, SunTrust
Bank. Shareholders may reinvest their quarterly dividends and may
make optional cash investments weekly in amounts up to $10,000
per month. A brochure and enrollment form are available by calling
toll-free (888) 887-2971.

A N N U A L  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  M E E T I N G
The Equifax annual meeting of shareholders will be held at 10:00 a.m.
on Wednesday, May 14, 2003, at the Carter Presidential Center,
453 Freedom Parkway, Atlanta, Georgia. Proxies will be mailed 
to all shareholders before the meeting.

E Q U I F A X  O N  T H E  I N T E R N E T
A broad range of consumer, business, investor and governance
information is available at www.equifax.com.

I N V E S T O R  R E L A T I O N S
Investor requests for financial information may be directed by phone
to (404) 885-8000, in writing to P.O. Box 4081, Atlanta, Georgia
30302, or by email to investor@equifax.com. Requests may be faxed
to (404) 885-8988. Form10-K, the Annual Report to the Securities
and Exchange Commission, will be available after March 31, 2003.
Shareholders may obtain a copy without charge by writing to the
Corporate Secretary, P.O. Box 4081, Atlanta, Georgia 30302, or
online from our website, www.equifax.com.

S T O C K  P R I C E S *
2002 2001

(In dollars) High Low High Low
1st Quarter 31.30 22.69 19.58 16.24
2nd Quarter 29.92 25.19 22.94 17.52
3rd Quarter 27.03 18.93 27.41 18.60
4th Quarter 25.80 20.03 25.33 21.45
Year 31.30 18.93 27.41 16.24

* Stock prices have been adjusted to reflect the spin-off of Certegy.
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Equifax, Equifax Decision Power, eIDverifier, Bankruptcy Navigator Index and Score Power are registered trademarks of Equifax Inc.

The Equifax Difference, Equifax Credit Report, “enlighten | enable | empower,” Decision Power Insight, Equifax Credit Watch, OFAC Alert, Equifax Small Business
Credit Report, Equifax List Select, Equifax Email Append and Permission! are trademarks of Equifax Inc. 

Pinnacle is a service mark of Equifax Inc.
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